Current issues and potential solutions for the electrospinning of major polysaccharides and proteins: A review

Murtaza Haider Syed¹, Md Maksudur Rahman Khan², Mior Ahmad Khushairi Mohd Zahari^{1,*}, Mohammad Dalour Hossen Beg³, Norhayati Abdullah^{1,*}

¹Faculty of Chemical and Process Engineering Technology, Universiti Malaysia Pahang Al-Sultan Abdullah, Gambang, Pahang, Malaysia
²Petroleum and Chemical Engineering Programme Area, Faculty of Engineering, Universiti Teknologi Brunei, Gadong BE1410, Brunei
³School of Engineering, University of Waikato, New Zealand

> * Corresponding Authors Email address: ahmadkhushairi@ump.edu.my; yatiabdullah@ump.edu.my

Abstract

Biopolymers, especially polysaccharides and proteins, are the promising green replacement for petroleum based polymers. Due to their innate properties, they are effectively used in biomedical applications, especially tissue engineering, wound healing, and drug delivery. The fibrous morphology of biopolymers is essentially required for the effectiveness in these biomedical applications. Electrospinning (ES) is the most advanced and robust method to fabricate nanofibers (NFs) and provides a complete solution to the conventional methods issues. However, the major issues regarding fabricating polysaccharides and protein nanofibers using ES include poor electrospinnability, lack of desired fundamental properties for a specific application by a single biopolymer, and insolubility among common solvents. The current review provides the main strategies for effective electrospinning of the major biopolymers. The key strategies include blending major biopolymers with suitable biopolymers and optimizing the solvent system. A systematic literature review was done to provide the optimized solvent system of the major biopolymers along with their best possible biopolymeric blend for ES. The review also highlights the fundamental issues with the commercialization of ES based biomedical products and provides future directions to improve the fabrication of biopolymeric nanofibers.

Keywords:

Biopolymers; Electrospinning; Nanofibers; Biological macromolecules

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.2 Biopolymers in biomedical applications	4
1.3 Electrospinning	6
1.4 Importance of biopolymeric nanofibers	
2. Major biopolymers for nanofibers fabrication	15
2.1 Influences of the solvent system in nanofibers production	19
2.2.1 Cellulose and their derivatives	
2.2.2 Lignin	
2.2.3 Chitosan and Chitin	
2.2.4 Hyaluronic Acid	
2.2.5 Alginate	
2.2.6 Levan	
2.2.7 Kefiran	
2.2.8 Collagen and Gelatin	
2.2.9 Elastin	
2.2.10 Silk fibroin	
3. Trends in biopolymers electrospinning	
4. Commercial products	
5. Future prospectives	
6. Conclusion	
References	50

1 1. Introduction

In the mid-20th century, significant policy changes were made to discourage using petroleum-2 based polymers. The main reasons for this initiation were the recycling and hazardous issues 3 4 associated with petroleum based polymers [15]. However, the industry continues to grow as it employs almost 1.6 million people in Europe, and the continent's total annual revenue is roughly 5 6 360 billion euros [16]. There has been a progressive rise from 2 million tons of plastic 7 manufacture in 1950 to 380 million tons in 2015; just 18% of this was recycled. An estimated 12.5 million tons of plastic made their way into the ocean in 2010, mainly from nations around 8 the coast [19]. Fig. 1a shows the percentage of world percentage production of plastics based on 9 different regions [20]. 10

11 Irrespective of the production and growth of the plastic industry, synthetic polymers are 12 becoming a constant threat to the environment [21]. Due to their nondegradable nature, these 13 plastic materials poison the environment when disposed of in landfills or incinerators, whereas 14 tertiary recycling methods include chemical, thermochemical, and pyrolysis [22]. However, reusing all petroleum based plastics is difficult because of their environmental toxicity and 15 16 recycling difficulties [23]. Above all, these petroleum based polymers are not suitable at all for 17 any biomedical application since they are toxic and non-biodegradable. All these issues caused the researchers to look for alternatives [24]. Researchers increasingly focus on environmentally 18 benign, biodegradable, and readily accessible materials instead of petroleum based polymers. 19 20 The most promising alternatives to these petroleum based polymers are biopolymers [25]. In the past decade, a sharp increase in industrial and research fields has been observed for biopolymers 21 (Fig. 1c). Biopolymers are the polymers produced by living things and can be degraded 22 biologically. Biopolymers are taking over the market from synthetic polymeric materials. These 23

compounds, such as biopolymers, bioplastics, vitamins, and organic acids, may be made from
natural resources using biotechnology [26].

About 1.1% of plastic output worldwide comes from bioplastics, with the European Union (EU) leading the charge [32]. Biopolymers have seen a steady rise in investment over the last several years. A recent survey shows that 1% of the world's plastics are produced from biopolymers [27]. The report also estimated that biopolymers' global production capacity (GPC) would be increased by 214.15% by 2026 (Determined by the authors based on data <u>https://ect-</u> center.com/blog/biodegradable-polymers) (Fig. 1b).



*CIS: Commonwealth independent states; ME: Middle east; NA: North America; LA: Latin America

Fig. 1 Production comparison of polymers, (a) Plastic production in major regions, (b) Prediction of biopolymers production₇(c) Utilization of biopolymers in different industrial sectors

Biopolymers can be divided into three distinct classes depending on the origin of their raw 32 materials. The three classes include (1) natural biopolymers, (2) synthetic biopolymers, and (3) 33 microorganism-based biopolymers (Fig. 2) [28]. Some of the most diverse polymeric 34 macromolecules with exceptional structural and metabolic properties may be found in 35 microorganisms, including bacteria, fungi, yeasts, molds, smuts, and many more forms of what 36 we consider "primitive life" [29]. These biopolymers comprise various polysaccharides and 37 proteins, including cellulose, chitin, chitosan, dextran, hyaluronic acid, silk, keratin, and many 38 more. For a long time, plant-based polysaccharides and proteins have been valuable and 39 sustainable resources [30]. All living organisms ranging from microorganisms to highly evolved 40 terrestrial, aquatic, or aerial animals, may produce natural structures with great potential in 41 biomedicine [31]. These structures are present in a large variety, from glycosaminoglycans (such 42 as chitin and hyaluronic acid) and proteoglycans to proteins (majorly collagen, elastin, gelatin) to 43 the genetic material deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) [32]. 44



Fig. 2 Types of biopolymers based on the origin

This review focuses on the electrospinning of major biopolymers and highlights the issues and the potential solution of each biopolymer. The review highlights three main strategies to overcome biopolymers ES, including chemical modifications, blending with other biopolymer, and optimizing the solvent system for the major biopolymeric combinations. The review also highlights the ES insights of the two unexplored polysaccharides, levan, and kefiran, which could be useful in future biomedical applications.

53 **1.2 Biopolymers in biomedical applications**

46

54 Biopolymers occur naturally in the human body and play vital roles, from enclosing cells to cell 55 communication. They regulate the skin's moisture and elasticity to keep it in its native state. They lubricate body joints and the digestive system and prevent infection by building up mucus linings in the eyes and airways of humans [33]. All the significant events at the cellular level of mammals revolve around the extracellular matrix (ECM), as it contains collagen and elastin. It provides a high surface area based habitat for cells and tissues by providing cell adherence, controlling cell signaling, and promoting cell differentiation [34]. Hence, mimicking the natural ECM is the fundamental requirement of biomedical applications [35].

The most challenging part of fabricating a scaffold for tissue engineering is ECM replication and creating a tissue-specific scaffold that meets the requirements of natural biocompatibility, biodegradability, and high mechanical strength [36]. The other additional requirements of the biopolymeric scaffolds include signal transportation for maintaining cell growth, skin hydration, and pliability maintenance, a barrier for pathogens protection, less friction via lubrication, and so on [37, 38]. However, the conventional techniques lack the fundamental mimicking of the ECM [39].

69 The essential prerequisite for any drug delivery system is the controlled release of a therapeutic agent. In addition, the drug carrier should prevent the therapeutic substance from being degraded 70 by enzymes before it is released slowly [40]. The drug carrier must be nontoxic, biodegradable, 71 72 and, most critically, should be released from the body without any adverse effect after effective delivery. However, most biopolymers lack natural interaction, and the system lacks mechanical 73 74 strength to survive in the physiological environment [41]. Conventional drug delivery systems 75 usually use a crosslinker to overcome this issue, but the crosslinkers are mostly toxic, limiting 76 the options for developing a drug delivery system [42].

Biopolymers also play a significant role in wound healing by replacing traditional dressings.
Since traditional wound dressings were made from simple coverings, such as plant fibers or
animal fats, and were used to prevent further bleeding [37]. Modern technological advances have

allowed the fabrication of artificial materials for wound dressings with a wide range of applications. Quick hemostasis and antimicrobial efficacy are two must-haves for every contemporary wound dressing. The primary role of wound dressing is to stop bleeding, which must be antibacterial to prevent infections from spreading [43, 44]. However, for treating major wounds, a sustained drug release and high surface area to volume ratio to promote growth and differentiation of the cells is the major requirement. Conventional wound healing dressings mostly lack these properties owing to the methods for fabrication [45].

87 **1.3 Electrospinning**

The major issues highlighted in all three biomedical applications can be resolved using an 88 89 advanced, more flexible method to fabricate fibrous morphology [46]. Since the fibrous morphology provides cellular-control properties, high porosity, better mechanical performance, 90 and high surface to mass and volume ratios compared to alternative morphologies [47]. Scaffold-91 92 cell interactions may occur over a more extensive region due to the high surface to area and volume ratio. The manufacturing procedure determines the fiber diameter, which may range 93 from nanometers to millimeters, allowing for the regeneration of multi-layered tissues [48]. The 94 95 potential biological uses of fibrous scaffolds are broadened by their malleable nature, the simplicity with which their structures can be altered, and the precision with which they may be 96 shaped [49]. 97

98 There are many techniques for the fabrication of nanofibers. However, the most promising and 99 flexible technique to fabricate nanofiber is electrospinning (ES). ES uses the blend of 100 biopolymers in a solvent system and fabricates nanofibers with the help of voltage. It provides 101 the flexibility of using a unique combination of biopolymers without any natural interactions, 102 which was challenging to achieve with old methods [50]. Incorporating unique combinations of biopolymers provides the nanofibers with many critical properties crucial for biomedical
applications [51]. Many ES techniques are currently being used to fabricate different nanofibrous
morphologies for various biomedical applications. Some major ES techniques are listed in Table
1, along with their recent applications, and Fig. 3 shows the various morphologies of
biopolymers that can be achieved by using electrospinning and can be utilized for a particular
application.

113 Table. 1 Major strength and drawbacks of various electrospinning techniques

Electrospinning methods	Scheme of setups	Strengths	Drawbacks	Recent applications	References
Single needle (emulsion/ blend)	Spinneret Syringe Pump Voltage source	High and uniform drug distribution, a high initial burst	The bioactivity of therapeutics is lost due to due voltage and solvent; an initial high dosage burst can cause toxicity	 Chitosan/ polyhydroxy butyrate based nanofibers for tissue engineering Alginate/ chitosan and polycaprolactone based nanofibers for capsaicin drug delivery for cancer treatment 	[52, 53]
Co/tri axial	Syringe Pump Core polymer Middle polymer Outer polymer Uter polymer Uter polymer Grounded collector	Hollow fibers formation, two separate solutions for the outer and inner core, saves the therapeutic from the solvents to dissolve biopolymers; the final structure is optimal for sustained drug delivery since the encapsulation of soluble drugs in core	Consideration of variables like interfacial tension and viscoelasticity makes the procedure designing complex	Polycaprolactone/chitosan/poly vinyl alcohol shell with resveratrol loaded core for tissue engineering	[54]
Multineedle	Syringe Pump Syringe Pump Voltage source Grounded collector	Enhanced rate of production	Non-uniform fiber production, electrostatic interaction of needles which are side by side	No recent potential biomedical application was observed	[55]

Needleless	Grounded collector Wire for polymer coating Polymer solution e Voltage source	Superior production rate as compared to needle based techniques, no spinneret clogging issue, viscous natured biopolymers can be used	High voltage, non- uniform diameter distribution of fibers, high cost, and random generation of taylor cones	Gelatin/ polycaprolactone based nanofibers for ibuprofen sustained release	[56]
Radial nanofibers	Spinaret Electrospinning setup Medified collector Radially oriented pattern	Fabricated nanofibers have specific patterns providing biological cues for cells growth and differentiation	The process used a ring and pin structure in the collector while the area without the structure still has random nanofibers, so overall, the technique is complex with low throughput	Polylactic acid/gelatin based radially aligned nanofibers for chronic wound healing	[57]
Yarn based nanofibers	Spinneret Collector	The resultant nanofibers show exceptional mechanical strength, surface area and pores mimicking natural extracellular matrix for cell culture	The process is complex as it requires specialized and complex collectors and is not suitable for all biopolymers, limiting the options	Polycaprolactone based nanofiber yarns for tendon repair	[56]

10



Fig. 3 Various morphologies and assemblies of natural, synthetic or combination of biopolymers [6]

115 **1.4 Importance of biopolymeric nanofibers**

For the application of tissue engineering, in addition to the previously mentioned features, biopolymeric nanofibrous scaffold also enhances cell adherence by including specific patterns, such as RGD (arginine, glycine, and aspartate tripeptide) [58]. All of the listed features encourage the growth and proliferation of tissues. The manufacturing process fabricating specific

fibers varying in size from nanosized to millimetric may be employed to recreate hierarchical 120 tissues at various levels. Fig.4a shows the schematic representation of how the cells interact with 121 various other factors and therapeutic agents in a nanofibers based scaffold. Fig. 4b shows the 122 SEM micrographs of the nanofibrous yarns developed by Cai et al., (2012) [7]. The study 123 employed human embryonic stem cell-derived mesenchymal stem cells to be developed in the 124 125 scaffold. The cells changed from a round to a spindle shape, and at around 6 weeks mark a 3D bony tissue was observed around and inside the scaffold. The study showed how nanofibrous 126 scaffolds can guide the development of bone formation. 127





Fig. 4 Nanofibers based scaffolds for tissue engineering, (a) Schematic illustration, (b-c) SEM images at various magnifications [7]

For the application of drug delivery, nanofibers provide a potential solution for sustained drug 129 delivery and overcoming the issue of burst release. The achievement is only possible due to the 130 fibrous morphology, which increases the surface area to volume ratio [59]. The other more 131 effective approach is encapsulating therapeutic to provide protection and sustained release. 132 Coaxial electrospinning produces nanofibers with core-shell morphology and encapsulates drugs 133 134 and other therapeutics in the core to form smart drug delivery systems [60]. Abdolbaghian et al., (2022) [2] developed PLA/PVA/PVP based core-shell nanofibers for sage drug delivery. The 135 core consisted of the PLA and sage, while the shell comprised PVP and PVA (Fig. 5a & b). They 136 137 compared drug release of the core, shell, and core-shell structures. Their results showed that the drug release was reduced by 35% in the core-shell structure compared to the dispersed drug 138 loaded structures (Fig. 5c). 139



Fig. 5 Core-shell nanofibers based drug delivery system (a) Overall biocomposite SEM image, (b) Single nanofiber TEM image, (c) Drug release comparison between core-shell and simple morphology [2]

Nanofibers can also play a vital role in fabricating smart wound dressing since the ES allows the 140 combination of any biopolymers, including the therapeutic, which helps advance wound healing 141 [45]. The traditional dressing comprises polymers with no antimicrobial activities, but the 142 biopolymeric nanofibers based dressing is innately antimicrobial. The other important concern 143 about chronic wound healing is that the dressing can not be replaced daily due to the danger of 144 wound infection and exhaustion of the therapeutic. This change of dressing results in disturbing 145 the wound healing process. The nanofibrous based smart wound healing system reduces the 146 frequency of dressing changes since there are fewer chances of wound infection, and with 147 sustained drug release, the drug is not finished too early [61]. Due to the wide variety of options 148 for fibrous scaffolds, the ability to adjust fiber orientation in the scaffold, and the flexible 149

150	structural modification, the field of biomedical applications has been greatly widened [62]. In a
151	study by Wu et al. (2022) [57], a wound healing patch for diabetic patients was developed. The
152	developed patches utilized the effect of patterns on the differentiation and growth of the cells.
153	They fabricated nanofiber and hydrogel-based bi-layered dressing consisting of the radially
154	aligned nanofibers of gelatin and polylactic acid in a radial manner (Fig. 6). The developed
155	patches showed better cell recruitment and guidance ability for better differentiation of the
156	human dermal fibroblasts (HDFS). Fig. 6a & b shows the graphical representation and
157	fluorescent imaging of the migration of HDFS along the radially aligned nanofibers from day 3
158	to 7. Fig. 6c shows the cell viability test for the developed patches and confirms the successful
159	differentiation environment mimicking the natural ECM.
160	
161	
101	
162	
163	
164	
165	
105	
166	
167	
168	
160	
103	

Fig. 6 Radially aligned nanofibers based wound healing patches, (a) Graphical representation, (b) Fluorescent microscope analysis, (c) Cell viability test [4]

170

171 2. Major biopolymers for nanofibers fabrication

The major classes of biopolymers for major biomedical applications include polysaccharides, proteins, and phospholipids due to their abundance, cost-effectiveness, and high level biocompatibility [63]. However, using only a single natural biopolymer has various drawbacks and difficulties in forming a system for a biomedical application. The fundamental issue is that a single biopolymeric system cannot manifest desired properties for the nanofibers to accomplish the objective of biomedical applications as they lack the whole spectrum of innate properties required by a particular system including biocompatibility, cell adherence, mechanical strength and antimicrobial effect [64]. The other major biopolymer issues are their insolubility and innate low electrospinnability potential. There are two main approaches to overcoming the electrospinnability and properties issue: biopolymers are chemically modified or blended with other biopolymers for ES [65]. The blending provides the resultant nanofibers with additional features for biomedical applications. Some of the major biopolymers used for ES, along with their merits and demerits, are listed in Table. 2

191 Table 2. Merits and demerits of commonly used biopolymers in electrospinning

Туре	Biopolymers	Chemical structures	Advantages	Disadvantages	References
Natural	Chitosan	HO HO HO NH2 HO HO O HO O In	Incorporates antimicrobial & antioxidation activity, regulates inflammation, promotes hemostasis	Less solubility and biodegradation rate are uncontrollable	[66-68]
	Cellulose	OR HO OR OR OR OR OR OR N N	Improves thermal stability and scaffolding for the therapeutics	Highly immunogenic, less solubility and limited water holding capacity	[69-71]
	Hyaluronic acid		Natural component of the body and actively involves in the clot formation, inflammation, proliferation, and re-epithelialization	Highly viscous even at low concentration	[72-74]
	Alginate	$ \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ HO \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ $	Structure similarity with extracellular matrix, abundant availibity and cost effective	High viscosity and immunogenic response	[75]

	Silk fibroin	N-terminus Amorphous C-terminus C-termi	Enhanced mechanical properties, rate of biodegradation is controllable, improve water, and oxygen permeability	Extraction process is tedious, and degumming affects mechanical properties	[76]
	Collagen	A ochain	Less immunogenic, better biocompatibility, good for cell proliferation and adhesion	Sudden breakdown during degradability and extension	[77, 78]
	Polyvinyl alcohol	{CH₂ -CH	Bio-adhesive, nontoxic and better chemical resistance	Bio-inertness and low mechanical strength	[79, 80]
Synthetic	Polyethylene oxide	HO CH ₂ O h	Good viscoelastic behavior in physiological environment, improves the electrospinnability as easy to blend with natural biopolymers	Non-biodegradable within the biological time frame	[81]
	Polylactic acid		Excellent electrospinnability, good mechanical strength	Hydrophobic in nature and can cause inflammation and results in immunogenicity	[82, 83]

2.1 Influences of the solvent system in nanofibers production

The solubility issue of biopolymers is more complex than the other mentioned issues, as the 194 solvent system should not only makes the homogenous blend but also fabricates nanofibers. 195 Since it is evident in the next examples, sometimes the system will dissolve the biopolymers, but 196 197 the nanofibers will not be fabricated, and the ES will result in bead formation or spraying. Each combination of biopolymers requires an optimized solvent system to fabricate nanofibers. The 198 properties of the solvent system also play a crucial role in the fabrication of nanofibers and their 199 200 morphology. The major properties of the resultant solvent system include the dielectric constant, polarity, surface tension, and viscosity [84]. Georgiadou et al., 2014 [3] showed the effect of the 201 different solvent systems on the morphology of the same concentration of polylactic acid. Out of 202 the six different solvent systems, all were dissolving PLA, but only acetone/dimethylacetamide 203 formed the uniform nanofibers. The rest solvent systems either failed to fabricate the nanofibers 204 or formed the beads (Fig. 7) 205

Fig. 7 Effect of different solvent systems on the nanofibers morphology of polylactic acid (10% w/v), (a) acetone/1,4-dioxane, (b) acetone/tetrahydrofuran, (c) acetone/dichloromethane, (d) acetone/chloroform, (e) acetone/dimethylformamide, (f) acetone/dimethylacetamide [3]

206	Another study by Choktaweesap et al. (2007) [6] demonstrated the effect of various solvent
207	systems (Glacial acetic acid (GAA) (Fig. 8a), GAA/2,2,2-trifluoroethanol (TFE) (Fig. 8b),
208	GAA/dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Fig. 8c), GAA/ethylene glycol (EG) (Fig. 8d), and
209	AA/formamide (F) (Fig. 8e) on the morphology of gelatin NFs. They conducted the ES process
210	with the same parameters (voltage: 7.5 kV and the distance between needle and collector 7.5 cm)

and the same biopolymer (gelatin) but changed the solvent system to see the direct effect of solvent systems on the final NFs. Different solvent systems resulted in the change in properties of the solution, like surface tension and conductivity, and hence the change in morphology and the diameter of the NFs was observed.

Glacial acetic acid 29%, Conductivity: $342 \ \mu S \ cm^{-1}$, Fiber diameter: 839 ± 0.09

Glacial acetic acid:EG (93:7), Conductivity: 250 μ S cm⁻¹, Fiber diameter: 264 ± 0.04

Glacial acetic acid:TFE (40:60) Conductivity: 537 μS cm⁻¹, Fiber diameter: 634 ± 0.13

Glacial acetic acid:F (91.9), Conductivity: 490 μS cm⁻¹ Fiber diameter: not applicable

Glacial acetic acid:DMSO (91:9) Conductivity: 383 µS cm⁻¹

Fig. 8 Effect of different solvent systems on the gelatin nanofibers, (a) Glacial acetic acid, (b) GAA:TFE, (c) GAA:DMSO, (d) GAA:EG, (e) GAA:F [5]

The following section highlights the major issues with the fabrication of nanofibers for major biopolymers. It also provides potential approaches to solve those issues, which mainly include blending the biopolymer or developing an optimized solvent system. It also enlists the possible combinations of various biopolymers and the particular solvent system for a specific biomedical application.

222 **2.2.1** Cellulose and their derivatives

According to the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), cellulose is the 223 most abundant biopolymer, which is a homopolymer of glucose units homopolymer which is 224 225 connected by (1,4)-linkages [85]. Cellulose is biodegradable, bio-friendly, nontoxic, cost-226 effective, and has high mechanical strength and chemical resistance since insoluble in most polar and nonpolar solvents [86]. Cellulose source, the extraction process, polymerization (DP) degree, 227 228 and treatment procedure may determine cellulose polymorphism (i.e., I, II, III, and IV). DP mostly depends on the source type, but the overall molecular structure stays constant and 229 significantly impacts cellulose viscosity, mechanical characteristics, and dissolving properties. 230 Thus, these three characteristics determine cellulose electrospinning and the application of its 231 fiber form [87]. These will be the advantages of employing cellulose in the nanofibers. 232 233 Developing technology for cellulose extraction from waste items such as food, agricultural, and textile waste further increases its sustainability and promotes a green environment [88]. 234

Despite the many advantages of cellulose, the major hindrances are the non-solubility of cellulose. Hence, it is mainly modified into various derivatives that somehow solve the solubility issue and improves the chances of electrospinnability. Most alterations are made to cellulose for its better affinity for polar/nonpolar molecules [89, 90]. The advantages and disadvantages of significant cellulose derivatives for ES and their common solvent systems are listed in the Table. 3. Fig. S1 shows the morphology of the major cellulose derivatives blending with other biopolymers [8, 91, 92]

242

243

Derivative	Advantages	Solvent system	Disadvantages	Potential applications	References
Cellulose acetate	Better thermal stability, solubility, biocompatibility	Acetone: dimethyl acetamide (2:1 v/v)	Low Maximum operating temperature (40°C), Low pH working range (3-6)	Drug delivery, wound healing, microfiltration	[93-95]
Cellulose acetate butyrate	Better orientation stability, chemical and moisture resistance, innately hydrophobic	Acetone: dimethyl acetamide (1:4 v/v)	Hydrophobic nature limits the application in the biomedical field	Oil absorption	[96]
Carboxymethyl cellulose	Enhanced biodegradability, Good interaction with carboxyl and amine groups in drugs	Distilled water	Rigid structure and high viscosity result in gel formation	Drug delivery, Food preservation	[97-99]
Hydroxy propyl cellulose	Better solubility in common solvents, especially water and methanol, constant fibers diameter	Chloroform and dimethyl formamide	Low mechanical strength	Transdermal drug delivery, sensors	[100, 101]
246					

245 Table 3. Merits and demerits of common cellulose derivatives

247 **2.2.2 Lignin**

Lignin is a highly preferred option for ES because of its low cost, less pollution, and availability 248 of renewable sources (the second most abundant biopolymer in nature behind cellulose). Lignin 249 250 is mainly derived from wood pulping byproducts as the secondary cell wall of higher plants contains lignin [102]. It provides mechanical stability, the polysaccharide binding site, and aids 251 in resistance to pathogenic invasion [103]. Lignin is considered a phenolic biopolymer since 252 enzyme based polymerization of three primary phenolic alcohols (monolignols-p-coumaryl, 253 coniferyl, and sinapyl) produces plant lignin. Since lignin molecules are widely crosslinked with 254 one other and different polysaccharides, the "native structure" is still unknown as it cannot be 255 removed from plants in their natural state [103]. The significant properties of lignin include 256 biocompatibility, biodegradability, antioxidant, and more chemical resistance than other 257

cellulose-based biopolymers. These properties have considerable potential for biomedical applications [104]. However, the major issues regarding the ES of lignin are low solubility, poor mechanical strength, impurities during the extraction process, low interaction with other biopolymer systems, and less viscoelasticity for ES [12]. It is mostly ES with other biopolymers to overcome the nanofibers fabrication of lignin. Some of the major biopolymers blended with lignin and their solvent systems are listed in Table 4. The SEM images of various biopolymers blended with lignin are shown in Fig. S2 [12, 105].

265	Table 4. List of	f commonly ble	nded biopolymers	with lignin for	the electrospinning
		•	_ v	0	

Source	Commonly blended	Solvent system	Potential applications	References
	biopolymers			
Natural	Chitosan	Glacial acetic acid (1.5% V/V or 5% v/v)	Food packaging, Ultrafiltration	[106, 107]
	Cellulose	Trifluoroacetic acid: dichloromethane (1:1 w/w)	Packaging, Filtration	[108, 109]
Synthetic	Polylactic acid	1,1,1,3,3,3- hexafluoro-2- propanol	Tissue engineering	[110]
	Polyethylene oxide	Dimethyl formamide	Tissue engineering	[111]
	Polyvinyl alcohol	Distilled water	Antimicrobial, Drug delivery	[112, 113]

266

267 **2.2.3** Chitosan and Chitin

Chitin and chitosan (CS) have a repeating structure of (1,4)-b-N-acetyl glycosaminoglycan and its deacetylate derivative, respectively [114]. The chemical structure of chitin is almost identical to that of cellulose except for the organic group R, which in chitin is NHAc rather than OH. Crab, shrimp, prawn, and insect exoskeletons, as well as the cell walls of mushrooms, include the most readily accessible animal derived biopolymer, chitin [115]. Chitin is produced yearly at 1011 tons but is mainly discarded in the fishing industry. The chitin nanofibers had a 10–20 nm diameter and a good aspect ratio [116]. The application of chitin is somewhat limited due to its insoluble character in most solvents [117].

276 Chitin deacetylation produces the polysaccharide biopolymer chitosan. In CS, the R group is 277 NH₂ instead of OH in cellulose. Because D-glucosamine repeat unit C-2 possesses a -NH₂ functional group, chitosan is a better chelating agent than cellulose [118]. Deacetylated 278 polysaccharides are transformed into polyelectrolytes in an acidic medium (pH < 6.5) and are 279 280 more likely to dissolve because they lose their charges and precipitate due to amine (-NH₂) group deprotonation [119]. Chitosan properties in a solution are generally determined by molecular 281 weight, deacetylation, polymer charge, ionic strength, and pH [120]. The most well-known 282 chitosan properties include biocompatibility, biodegradability, 283 metal chelation. mucoadhesiveness, and antibacterial [121, 122]. Owing to the mentioned properties, it is a 284 polymer of high importance in biomedical goods, cosmetics, chemicals, and medicines [123]. 285

The primary issue with the CS is that it can only be dissolved in an acidic medium (pH 2-6) and 286 287 becomes polycationic, forming a viscous solution. So, high voltage is required for the ES of CS due to high viscosity. Due to the application of high voltage, CS NFs generally show bead 288 formation [124-127]. The other issue includes the strong intramolecular hydrogen bonding 289 290 created in chitosan solutions since the polymer chain motion in response to the electric field is usually suppressed, and for continuous fiber fabrication to occur during ES, it induces minimal 291 292 accessibility for the spinning of the polymer [128, 129]. These problems can be addressed by 293 employing solvents like trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), or a combination of TFA and dichloromethane (DCM), or by adding additional solvents to the former mixture such as ethanol, 294

295	1,4-dioxane, or acetone [130, 131]. Chitosan solution in TFA generates soluble salt residues of -
296	NH ₃ ⁺ CF ₃ COO ⁻ because the amino groups of CS form salts with TFA, disrupting the regular rigid
297	interaction between chitosan molecules and hence resulting in the dissolution of the polymer,
298	increasing the accessibility for ES and the charge density of CS solution [132]. Due to the high
299	volatility of the TFA solvent, the resulting NFs solidify rapidly. The fundamental issue with the
300	TFA based CS NFs is the low mechanical strength in the aqueous media which is the main
301	requirement for any biomedical application [133]. However, blending CS with other biopolymers
302	can efficiently address this issue. Some of the major blended biopolymers used with CS to
303	produce NFs and the solvent systems are listed in Table 5. The morphologies of various blended
304	chitosan nanofibers are shown in Fig. S3 [17, 134].
305	
306	
307	
308	
309	
310	
311	
312	
313	
314	
315	

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Application	References
	Alginate	Ethanol in water (20% v/v) OR Acetone: dimethyl acetamide (2:1 w/w)	Wound dressing, Skin repair, Drug delivery	[135-137]
Natural	Pullulan	Aqueous acetic acid (50% v/v)	Drug delivery, wound dressing	[138, 139]
	Cellulose	Trifluoro acetic acid: acetic acid (7:3 w/w)	Adsorption, Food packaging	[133, 140]
	Hyaluronic acid	Distilled water	Drug delivery, wound dressing	[11, 67]
	Polyethylene oxide	Acetic acid (various percentages)	Tissue engineering, Sensors, wound healing	[141-143]
Synthetic	Polyvinyl alcohol	Acetic acid (various percentages) OR Distilled water	Metal ion removal, Drug delivery	[144, 145]
	Polylactic acid	Trifluoro acetic acid: dichloromethane (70:30 v/v)	Water filter, Wound dressing, Drug delivery	[146-148]

316 Table 5. List of various commonly blended biopolymers for the electrospinning of chitosan

317 **2.2.4 Hyaluronic Acid**

Natural Hyaluronic Acid (HA) is a linear polysaccharide composed of alternating disaccharide units of D-Glucuronic acid and N-acetyl D-glucosamine. Its molecular weight ranges from 100 to 8,000 kDa depending upon the source [149]. The HA molecular weight is essential in several biological activities, as shown in Table 6. As a component of most mammalian connective tissues, HA helps to maintain structural integrity and viscoelasticity. HA's primary distribution in connective tissues and important role in cell adhesion, proliferation, migration, and granulation tissue development are all HA's biological features [150].

Molecular weight (Da)	Applications	References
6 × 10 ⁶	Skin inflammation treatment	[151]
>1 × 10 ⁶	Joint inflammation treatment	[152, 153]
1.2×10^5	Cancer treatment	[154, 155]
2×10^4	Immunomodulation	[156]
1 × 10 ⁶	Removal of reactive oxygen species by UV-rays	[157, 158]
$1 imes 10^{6}$	Epidermal cells growth regulation	[159]
$< 1 \times 10^{4}$	Skin metabolism regulation and antiaging	[160, 161]
$2-3 \times 10^{3}$	Promoting collagen synthesis	[162, 163]
<1 × 10 ⁴	Joint health improvement by oral formulation	[164]

326 Table 6. Correlation of hyaluronic acid molecular weight with biomedical applications

327

The most distinguishing features of HA are its biodegradability, biocompatibility, and negligible 328 329 induction of immunogenic response, which makes HA an important biopolymer for various biomedical applications. The half-life of HA depends upon the location of the organs. It has a 330 short half-life of 24 hours in skin tissues and is around 70 days long in some eye regions (up to 331 70 days) [165]. Injectable HA gels and solutions are used as dermal fillers to restore skin volume 332 and reduce wrinkles' appearance. HA is also used in other cosmetics because of its safety and 333 effectiveness. Drug delivery [166], osteoarthritis [167], and cosmetics [168] are only a few of the 334 medical uses of HA. Furthermore, HA is often recognized as the most hydrophilic, naturally 335 occurring polymer. The strong absorption characteristics of HA for wound exudates make it a 336 337 preferred option for wound dressings [169].

338 The major issue with HA is the low mechanical strength in physiological conditions. HA is 339 easily depolymerized invitro by acids and oxygen in the presence of thiols and ferrous based

reducing agents. [170]. Additionally, enzymatic or reactive species-mediated HA degradation 340 may also occur in vivo and limit the biomedical applications of HA. Since HA is only soluble in 341 342 the aqueous based media but even at low concentrations, the electrospinnability is poor due to the high viscosity and surface tension due to its ionic nature. Counter-ions in aqueous solutions 343 also increase HA solutions' viscosity [171]. Due to the high viscosity, HA polymer chains could 344 345 not interact with one another, contributing to jets' instability and the subsequent creation of discontinuous and heterogeneous NFs. Due to aqueous based solvents, the jet does not evaporate 346 between the collector and the needle, leading to droplets or clogging in the needle. HA's 347 relatively high surface tension requires a high voltage to generate more intense electrostatic 348 forces to fabricate NFs, resulting in beading. Therefore, the high surface tension of HA must be 349 decreased for the fabrication of continuous NFs [172] 350

To address these mentioned issues, the first approach is to blend HA with other biopolymers for 351 the NFs fabrication [173]. Major biopolymers used for the ES of HA are listed in Table 5. The 352 353 second approach uses solvents that disrupt the H-bonding in the HA chains [172]. That approach increases the flexibility of the chains, but the downside is the addition of toxic materials that 354 reduce the potential for biomedical applications [174]. The third approach uses a surfactant to 355 356 reduce surface tension [175]. The fourth approach is the modification of HA, which can be physical or chemical crosslinking. Conventional crosslinking is mainly accomplished by using 357 aldehydes, hydrazides, or sulfides. However, the downside of the chemical crosslinking is the 358 increase in cytotoxicity of the resultant NFs. Recently, 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminoisopropyl) 359 carbodiimide modification has been used and considered better than the conventional 360 crosslinking as the latter result in a non-cytotoxic product [175]. The physical modification is 361 mostly done using silver nanoparticles to develop self-crosslinking [176]. Some of the major 362

important HA blended nanofibers morphologies are shown in Fig. S4 [11, 177].

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Application	Reference
Natural	Cellulose	Distilled water	Therapeutic delivery	[178]
	Collagen	Hexafluoro isopropanol	Wound healing, Tissue engineering	[179, 180]
	Polyvinyl alcohol	ethanol: water: benzyl alcohol (50:40:10 v/v)	Wound healing, drug delivery	[175, 181, 182]
Synthetic	Polyethylene oxide	Water and 2,2,2- Trifluoroethanol: ethanol (1:10)	Drug delivery, Wound healing	[183, 184]
	Polycaprolactone	Ethanol: chloroform (7:3) OR formic acid: acetic acid (7:3)	Drug delivery, Wound healing, Tissue engineering	[185, 186]

365 Table 7. List of various biopolymers blended with hyaluronic acid for electrospinning

366

367 **2.2.5 Alginate**

368 Alginate (AG) is a linear anionic polysaccharide having mannuronic acid and glucuronic acid, referred to as M-blocks and G-blocks, respectively, and (1,4)-glycosidic bonds connect both 369 blocks. AG is mainly obtained from bacteria and algae, with algae being the most common 370 371 source [187]. AG has a similar role to cellulose in plants by giving strength and flexibility to the algae. Some bacteria (such as Azotobacteria and Pseudomonas) may also make AG [188]. 372 Several features of AG vary depending on the source. Due to their high G-block concentration, 373 seaweed AG is often employed for biomedical applications [189]. In contrast, bacterial source-374 based AG has high M-blocks concentration and often demonstrates enhanced immunogenicity 375 376 and cytokine production [190].

AG is an appealing material for increasing production and industrial applications since it is 377 readily available, economically viable, and ecologically beneficial. AG is also nontoxic when 378 employed in medical applications and has a low immunogenetic response in people because it 379 has excellent absorptivity, biocompatibility, biodegradability, and nontoxicity [191]. Despite 380 numerous beneficial characteristics, AG is difficult to electrospun, and pure AG electrospinning 381 382 in organic or aqueous solvents has not been reported. Some of the properties of AG that have been recognized for its poor electrospinnability include its polyelectrolyte nature, stiff and 383 prolonged structure, a tendency to form a gel at low concentration, high electrical conductivity, 384 and high surface tension [191-193]. These problems are mainly addressed using a cosolvent 385 system, blending with other biopolymers, surfactants, and chemical modifications [194]. The co-386 spinning polymers with better electrospinnability when blended with AG result in enhanced AG 387 electrospinnability. The blending with other biopolymers boost the electrospinnability by 388 producing charge repulsion in polymer chains of AG hence improving the flexibility of AG and 389 generating new hydrogen bonds [191]. Some of the significant blended biopolymers and solvent 390 systems of AG are listed in Table 8, and some major nanofiber morphologies are shown in Fig. 391 S5 [14, 195]. 392

393

394

- 395
- 396

397

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Application	Reference
Natural	Gelatin	Distilled water	Cell culture, Wound healing, dye adsorption	[196-198]
	Pullulan	Distilled water	Food packaging	[199]
	Polycaprolactone	Aqueous acetic acid	Cell culture, Drug delivery, Wound healing	[200, 201]
Synthetic	Polyethylene oxide	Distilled water	Wound dressing, Dye adsorption	[202-204]
	Polyvinyl alcohol	Acetone: dimethyl formamide (2:3 v/v)	Tissue engineering, Sensor	[205-207]

399 Table 8. List of various biopolymers blended with alginate for the electrospinning

400

401 **2.2.6 Levan**

For years, scientists have been intrigued by levan, a fructan homopolysaccharide with amphiphilic properties [208]. The structure consists of residues of D-fructo-furanose are held together by 2,6-glycosidic linkages and is synthesized by a wide range of microorganisms (including Acetobacter, Bacillus, Halomonas, Microbacterium, and Streptococcus) and some plants [209] (Fig. 9).

Fig. 9 Chemical structure of levan [1]

Any enzymes do not digest Levan once it enters the body since it does not affect the 408 physiological environment of animals, unlike other polysaccharides like cellulose and starch 409 410 [210]. This property can make this material an ideal candidate for drug delivery applications. In addition, they are intrinsically mucoadhesive and can be used in tissue engineering [1]. The main 411 issue with levan ES is its inconsistent fluid properties at low or high concentrations. Levan 412 413 displays Newtonian behavior for concentrations of up to 30% by mass, and between 30% and 55%, it shows shear thinning behavior, and for greater than 55% by weight, no plateau at low 414 415 shear rates is obtained [211]. However, its nanofibers have been reported at 60% weight concentration in water [212]. Therefore, this material requires further studies to acknowledge its 416 ES potential and to find better biopolymer for blending to enhance its natural properties and 417 overcome its drawbacks. 418

419 2.2.7 Kefiran

Kefir is a probiotic and jelly-like grains complex of bacteria and yeasts that produces kefiran, a glucogalactan heteropolysaccharide copolymer of D-glucose and D-galactose [213] (Fig. S6). Kefiran has long been recognized as a possible biomaterial. It was electrospun for the first time in 2014 from a water-based solution with no additives. Since then, various efforts have been made to produce multifunctional nanofibrous scaffolds based on kefiran [214, 215].

Kefiran has anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, antifungal, and excellent biocompatibility properties. Probiotic properties have been proven to stimulate the development of healthy microflora while inhibiting the growth of cancer cells and bacteria. The best advantage of kefiran is its solubility in water and other commonly available solvents [216]. However, additional study is needed from the ES perspective, as kefiran is expected to generate a new, fascinating category of biomaterials with enhanced properties. Some recent biopolymers blended with kefiran and the 431 solvent system for ES are listed in Table 9, and some major nanofiber morphologies are shown

432 in Fig. S7 [18].

433 Table 9. List of various biopolymers blended with kefiran for the electrospinning

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Potential applications	References
Natural	None	Deionized water	Drug delivery	[18]
	Chitosan	Aqueous acetic acid (2% v/v)	Tissue engineering	[217]
Synthetic	Polyvinyl alcohol	Distilled water	Yet to be reported	[218]
	Polyethylene oxide	Distilled water	Food packaging	[215]
Fig. 10 shows and their ratios	the SEM images of m	ajor polysaccharide	es nanofibers with c	lifferent biopolymer
Fig. 10 shows and their ratios	the SEM images of m	ajor polysaccharide	es nanofibers with d	lifferent biopolymer

439

440

Fig. 10 SEM images of major polysaccharides nanofibers with other biopolymers, (a) Carboxymethyl cellulose: polyvinyl alcohol: (2:10 % w/v) [8], (b) Hyaluronic acid: polyvinyl alcohol (1:2) [11], (c) Lignin: polyethylene oxide (97:3) [12], (d) Alginate: polyvinyl alcohol (8:2) [14], (e) Chitosan: alginate (1:1) [17], (f) Pure kefiran 4% [18]

443 **2.2.8 Collagen and Gelatin**

Collagen is the most common protein in mammals and makes up the ECM of numerous 444 mammalian organs and tissues, including skin, bone, blood vessels, tendons, and ligaments 445 446 [219]. Crosslinked tropocollagen units comprise three polypeptide chains that form a righthanded triple helix stabilized by interstrand hydrogen bonding and intrastrand interaction. 447 Collagen protects the ECM's biological and structural integrity because of its high tensile 448 strength and mechanical resilience [220]. Only one of the 29 collagen variations, collagen I, is 449 used to produce collagen-based biomaterials. Because of its biodegradability, low antigenicity, 450 customizable mechanical properties, ability to interact with a range of cell types, and capacity to 451 form three-dimensional scaffolds, collagen is a material of interest in tissue engineering and 452 therapeutic applications [221]. The major problems associated with collagen ES include loss of 453 454 physiochemical structure due to high voltage, no swelling in the water; instead, it is dissolved instantly, and low denaturation temperature [222]. These shortcomings have been overcome by 455 blending with other biopolymers (Table 10) and by using modifications in the structure [222] 456

457	Table 10. List of various biopolymers blended	with gelatin for the electrospinning
	1 /	

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Potential applications	Reference
Natural	Chitosan	Distilled water	Tissue engineering, Wound dressing	[223, 224]
- (uvui ui	Hyaluronic acid	Aqueous acetic acid	Tissue engineering, Wound healing	[179, 180, 225]
	Polycaprolactone		Ulcer treatment, Wound healing, Tissue engineering	[226-228]
Synthetic	Polylactic acid	Ethanol (80% v/v)	Tissue engineering,	[229, 230]
	Polyvinyl alcohol	Aqueous acetic acid (2% v/v)	Drug delivery, Wound dressing	[231, 232]

When collagen is hydrolyzed, it loses its native structure and transforms into gelatin. Two major events occur of this loss: breaking the intermolecular glycosylation linkage between lysine and hydroxylysine and breaking intramolecular disulfide bridges [233]. Collagen and gelatin are biopolymers with a fundamental structure composed of as many as 20 amino acids in varying quantities, depending on the hydrolysis procedure used to convert collagen to gelatin. However, there is a three amino acid sequence of L-arginine-glycine-aspartic acid (RGD) which is recognized by integrins to facilitate cell attachment.

The major features of gelatin include non-immunogenicity, biocompatibility, biodegradability, 465 adaptability, cheap cost, and no denaturation phenomena. Thus, gelatin is used in many ways in 466 the food and biomedical sectors, especially in tissue engineering. The major plus point is that 467 after being subjected to ES, it has no denaturation phenomena and is preferred over collagen. 468 The major drawback for gelatin NFs is the dissolution in the aqueous conditions. Gelatin is 469 usually crosslinked by several crosslinkers, mostly aldehydes, including glutaraldehyde (GA), 470 471 carbodiimides, succinimide, and genipin (GEN), for resolving dissolution issues. GA and GEN are considered the most suitable crosslinking agents because of their low toxicity and resistance 472 to degradation in cell culture conditions at 37 °C [234]. 473

Collagen and gelatin are usually methacrylate modified and resulting in ColMA and GelMA, respectively. ColMA has been widely researched for biological uses in the form of hydrogels [235], but its usage in ES has been restricted due to structural denaturation issues. Since ES produces GelMA rather than ColMA, it is a common electrospinnable material because of its high biocompatibility and morphological and chemical resemblance to ECM [236]. Furthermore, it promotes neovascularization and water adsorption, and its biodegradation rate is rapid and simple to control. It has been widely used in tissue engineering [237]. Fig. S8 shows some
essential collagen and gelatin nanofibers with commonly blended biopolymers [10, 238].

482 **2.2.9 Elastin**

Elastin is a naturally occurring protein with natural fiber morphology and is majorly found in animal ECM. This insoluble, elastomeric protein is formed by crosslinking tropoelastin, the protein's precursor (Fig. S9) [239]. Elastin has remarkable qualities, including a half-life of more than 70 years, outstanding durability, reversible stretchability, biocompatibility, and resistance to chemical and mechanical impacts. Elastin fibers have Young's modulus between 300 and 600 kPa and can be stretched up to 220% of their original length. They can withstand billions of stretch and recoil cycles without breaking [240].

Elastin found its application in wound healing and tissue engineering due to the mentioned 490 intrinsic properties [241]. Since elastin is both resistant and insoluble, it presents specific 491 difficulties as a starting material for ES. However, the solubility of elastin may be increased by 492 acidic or basic hydrolysis. These preparations have several drawbacks, including compositional 493 variability, potential loss of cellular signaling capabilities, and the need for crosslinking by 494 glutaraldehyde to increase the water stability of the fiber mats. It is frequently mixed with 495 additional polymers such as tropoelastin or elastin-like recombinamers (ELRs) 200 for rendering 496 pure elastin spinnable. Major biopolymers blended with elastin are enlisted in Table 11, and 497 some morphologies are shown in Fig. S10 [13, 242]. 498

499

500

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Potential application	References
Natural	Alginate	Deionized water and hexafluoro isopropanol	Tissue engineering	[34]
	Collagen	Deionized water	Tissue engineering	[243, 244]
	Hyaluronic acid	Hexafluoro isopropanol	Tissue engineering	[225, 245]
	Chitosan	Trifluoroacetic acid: dichloromethane (7:3)	Tissue engineering, Wound healing	[13, 246, 247]
Synthetic	Polylactic acid	Deionized water and dichloromethane	Tissue engineering, Wound healing	[248, 249]

502 Table 11. List of various biopolymers blended with elastin for the electrospinning

503

504 **2.2.10 Silk fibroin**

505 Silk fibroin (SF) is a fibrous protein from silkworm larval cocoons, often Bombyx mori or 506 Antheraea assama. It consists of polypeptide chains ranging in size from 200 to 350 kDa, and 507 each chain consists of a tandem repeat of hydrophobic heavy and hydrophilic light chains held 508 together by disulfide bonds [250]. As a result, a semi-crystalline fishnet structure is formed, with 509 the crystalline regions acting as pressure sponges that disperse that force evenly over the whole 510 fibroin network [247, 248]

511 Due to its accessibility, cheap cost, cytocompatibility, bioactivity, biodegradability, 512 thermostability, excellent mechanical qualities, and minimal immunogenicity, SF has seen an 513 uptick in usage as a biomaterial for tissue engineering and various biomedical applications in the 514 previous decade [251, 252]. The solution is prepared in formic acid or hexafluoro-2-propanol for 515 the ES of pure SF [253]. Organic solvents like methanol are required to stimulate the production of a more stable antiparallel-sheet conformation (silk II) in the NFs. There is a risk that organic and caustic solvents can alter the structure and bioactivity of biomolecules, particularly sensitive therapeutics in biomedical applications [254]. As a result, it is recommended to use less severe conditions and refrain from employing organic solvents to reduce their toxicity. Mostly SF is also electrospun with other biopolymers to overcome the ES issues. Some of the most common blended biopolymers are listed in Table 12. The effect of the solvent system on the SF can be seen in Fig. 11; aqueous media results in uniform morphology, while the organic solvent hexafluoro isopropanol results in a wide range of diameter. Overall, SF seems promising for developing various tissue engineering materials, especially for treating burnt or infected wounds.

525	Table 12. List of various biopolymers blended with silk fibroin for the electrospi	inning

Source	Commonly blended biopolymers	Solvent system	Potential applications	References
	Collagen	Aqueous acetic acid	Tissue engineering	[255, 256]
Natural	Hyaluronic acid	Deionized water	Tissue engineering, Wound healing	[257]
	Polyethylene oxide	Deionized water	Tissue engineering, Wound healing	[258, 259]
Synthetic	Polyvinyl alcohol	Aqueous acetic acid (90% v/v)	Tissue engineering, Drug delivery, Wound dressing	[260-263]

Fig. 11 SEM images of silk fibroin nanofibers with other biopolymers, (a) Polyethyleneimine: silk fibroin (10:90) in aqueous media, (b) Silk fibroin (8% w/v) in organic solvent (hexafluoro isopropanol) [9]

533 Fig. 12 shows the SEM images of major proteins nanofibers with different biopolymers and their

534 ratios.

Fig. 12 SEM images of major proteins nanofibers with other biopolymers, (a) Gelatin: Alginate (1:1) [10], (b) Silk fibroin: polyethyleneimine (90:10) in aqueous media [9], (c) Elastinn: chitosan (5.5:4 w/v) [13]

539

540 **3. Trends in biopolymers electrospinning**

We use the ScienceDirect database to study the current trends and progress for biopolymeric nanofibers (Fig. 13). Biopolymers were divided into two groups of polysaccharides and proteins, depending on their biochemical nature. In the case of the polysaccharides group 212% increase, while in the case of proteins, a 152% increase is seen in the nanofibers research from 2018 to 2022. For polysaccharides, cellulose is the top-researched biopolymer, while collagen and gelatin have been the top research biopolymers since 2018. However, in our review, we have highlighted polysaccharides newly introduced in ES. Kefir and levan have been gaining interestfor the past few years, but still, much study is required to unveil their potential.

Fig. 13 Cumulative number of publications in ScienceDirect platform in the last five years (2018-2022), (a) Total polysaccharides based nanofibers, (b) Major polysaccharides nanofibers, (c) Total protein based nanofibers, (d) Major proteins nanofibers

549 4. Commercial products

550 Much study has been dedicated to the fast expanding field of electrospinning. Upscaling to 551 industrial standards and commercialization are the ultimate goals of every research field. 552 Regarding electrospinning, however, repeatability issues and batch-to-batch variability are the 553 biggest problems across all methods [264]. This is a major hindrance to the widespread

- 554 commercialization and industrialization of electrospinning, particularly for use in the medical
- 555 field. Table 13 details several cutting-edge electrospinning-based medicinal supplies.

557 Table 13. Recent applications of electrospinning methods for biopolymers nanofibers based wound healing system

Product category	Brand name	Manufacturer	Main component	Key features	References
Drug delivery patches	Rivelin® patch	Bioinicia (Valencia, Spain)		The system is specially designed for mucosal surface unidirectional drug delivery.	[265]
	Zeus Bioweb TM	Zeus Industrial Products, Inc. (Orangeburg SC, USA)	Polytetrafluoroethylene	Ultrasmall fibers with the least chemical reactivity	[266]
	ReDura™	MEDPRIN (Guangzhou, China)	Polylactic acid	Material is similar to extracellular matrix (ECM) and promotes rapid repair and regeneration.	[267]
Surgical sutures and wound healing dressings	ReBOSSIS®	Ortho ReBirth (Yokohama-shi Kanagawa pref., Japan)	TCP (β-Tricalcium Phosphate), Bioabsorbable Polymer and SiV (Silicone- containing Calcium Carbonate	Bone filler that promotes the bone formation	[268]
	HealSmart™	PolyRemedy®, Inc. (Concord, MA, USA)	Hyaluronic acid	Antimicrobial Dressings	[269]
	PK Papyrus®	Biotronic (Berlin, Germany)	Polyurethane	Thin and elastic membrane for stent coating	[270]
	Surgiclot®	St. Theresa Medical Inc. (Eagan, USA)	Dextrin and fibrin	Sealent for the bone bleeding	[271]

558 **5. Future prospectives**

Despite widespread agreement that electrospinning is a fascinating method with promising 559 applications, issues still need to be addressed. Various hurdles to fabricating these biopolymeric 560 nanofibers include innate poor electrospinnability of biopolymers, lack of individual 561 biopolymers properties to accomplish the applications solely, and optimizing the solvent system 562 563 for the nanofibers fabrication. This review focusses on all three mentioned issues and addresses the solutions for individual biopolymers. The blending of biopolymers can solve the lack of 564 properties issue. The major results of this study suggested that the functionalization of 565 566 biopolymeric materials and then the blending with other biopolymers is crucial for developing and improving these materials for use in targeted applications. However, the major concern is the 567 insolubility of biopolymers and the optimization of the solvent system. The solvent system plays 568 a critical role in the fabrication of the nanofibers. This study provides insight into the current 569 solvents systems for the major biopolymers nanofibers fabrication. 570

571 However, it was observed that most of the solvents employed for the fabrication are organic 572 solvents, and they are a concern from the environmental and the user's point of view. During the 573 ES procedure, most of the solvents are evaporated; however, some traces are still left in the 574 fabricated nanofibers, resulting in the commercial level pharmaceutical development of biopolymeric nanofibers. Melt electrospinning might seem like a straightforward way to 575 overcome the organic solvent based procedures. However, the process has drawbacks regarding 576 577 the fibers' complexity, fibers with a large diameter, polymer-related thermal degradation, and incompatibility with several high throughputs. On the other hand, needleless electrospinning is 578 considered the most advance electrospinning method, but in this technique, a large liquid surface 579 that is exposed to the air and evaporates extremely volatile solvents into the environment results 580

in raised concerns for the user and the developed product. To overcome the solvent related issues, researchers should develop "green" solvents as the alternative to the harmful toxic solvents whose residues will not be harmful or will be affecting the biomedical applications and, above all, will increase the electrospinnability of the blend solution.

The other major issue noted in the research is the lack of generalized solvent-based models for 585 586 the ES process biopolymers. Even though stimulation models have been studied, no one has yet created a model that can reliably forecast the needle-based or needleless electrospinning 587 parameters. Therefore, most ES experiments depend on parametric analyses and empirical 588 knowledge of the process requirements. The current literature lacks studies on developing 589 standard protocols to make the fabrication more standardized rather than focusing on just 590 changing the process parameters (voltage, needle distance, and flow rate). To overcome these 591 restrictions, scientists should be more forthcoming with their findings on optimizing the solvent 592 systems and how the solvent system will affect different properties of biopolymeric under the 593 594 same electrospinning parameters and vice versa. In addition, more focus should be put on developing green solvents for biopolymeric nanofibers to replace harmful and toxic solvents. 595

596 **6.** Conclusion

Biopolymers are the materials in focus to replace petroleum based polymers. Various biopolymers have proved to be perfect candidates in different industries, especially in the health sector, due to their natural features like biocompatibility, antimicrobial activity, and biodegradability. The fibrous morphology of biopolymers is essentially required for effective biomedical applications, including tissue engineering, drug delivery and wound healing.

Electrospinning (ES) has emerged as the most productive and modern technique for fabricatingbiopolymeric nanofibers. ES provides the flexibility of combining various biopolymers without

toxic crosslinkers, which is nearly impossible with other conventional techniques. The resultant 604 nanofibrous morphology provides better surface area, mechanical properties, and compatibility. 605 However, electrospinning of biopolymers is still going through the developmental stages, and 606 there are many issues, including the use of toxic solvent systems, no focus on parameter based 607 studies in the current literature and the lack of reproducibility. The solvent system issue can be 608 609 resolved by formulating environmental friendly green solvent systems. For the other issues, more parametric studies are required to make the ES procedure universal and user-friendly to 610 reduce variation among the batches. The focus on these recommendations can lead to better 611 utilization of the ES technique and increased commercialization of biopolymeric nanofibrous 612 products. 613

614 **Declaration of Competing Interest**

The authors state that no potential conflicts of interest or personal ties might have influenced the work reported in this research.

617 Declaration of generative AI in scientific writing

The authors state that no AI software or AI based technologies were used for the writingpurposes of this review article.

620 Authors contribution

All authors contributed towards drafting and critically revising the paper and agree to be
accountable for all aspects of the work. The authors confirm that this manuscript has not been
previously published and is not currently under consideration by any other journal.

625 Acknowledgements

626	The authors would like to thank the Ministry of Higher Education for providing financial support
627	under Fundamental Research Grant Scheme (FRGS) No. FRGS/1/2019/TK05/UMP/02/13
628	(University reference RDU1901176), Universiti Malaysia Pahang as well as for the additional
629	financial support under PGRS grant PGRS220361 and Doctoral research scheme (DRS).
630	
631	
632	
633	
634	
635	
636	
637	
638	
639	
640	
641	
642	
643	

644 **References**

- 645 [1] N. Angel, S. Li, F. Yan, L. Kong, Recent advances in electrospinning of nanofibers from bio-based 646 carbohydrate polymers and their applications, Trends in Food Science & Technology (2022).
- 647 [2] H. Abdolbaghian, S. Bazgir, Fabrication and Characterization of Gas-Assisted Core-Shell Hydrogel
- Nanofibers as a Drug Release System with Antibacterial Activity, Eur. Polym. J. (2022) 111302.
- [3] R. Casasola, N.L. Thomas, A. Trybala, S. Georgiadou, Electrospun poly lactic acid (PLA) fibres: Effect of
 different solvent systems on fibre morphology and diameter, Polymer 55(18) (2014) 4728-4737.
- [4] S. Wu, W. Zhao, M. Sun, P. He, H. Lv, Q. Wang, S. Zhang, Q. Wu, P. Ling, S. Chen, Novel bi-layered
 dressing patches constructed with radially-oriented nanofibrous pattern and herbal compound-loaded
 hydrogel for accelerated diabetic wound healing, Applied Materials Today 28 (2022) 101542.
- [5] N. Choktaweesap, K. Arayanarakul, D. Aht-ong, C. Meechaisue, P. Supaphol, Electrospun Gelatin
 Fibers: Effect of Solvent System on Morphology and Fiber Diameters, Polymer Journal 39(6) (2007) 622631.
- [6] Z. Rezvani, J.R. Venugopal, A.M. Urbanska, D.K. Mills, S. Ramakrishna, M. Mozafari, A bird's eye view
 on the use of electrospun nanofibrous scaffolds for bone tissue engineering: Current state-of-the-art,
 emerging directions and future trends, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. Biol. Med. 12(7) (2016) 2181-2200.
- 660 [7] Y.-Z. Cai, G.-R. Zhang, L.-L. Wang, Y.-Z. Jiang, H.-W. Ouyang, X.-H. Zou, Novel biodegradable three-661 dimensional macroporous scaffold using aligned electrospun nanofibrous yarns for bone tissue 662 engineering, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A 100A(5) (2012) 1187-1194.
- [8] A. Allafchian, H. Hosseini, S.M. Ghoreishi, Electrospinning of PVA-carboxymethyl cellulose nanofibers
 for flufenamic acid drug delivery, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 163 (2020) 1780 1786.
- [9] P.L. Heseltine, C. Bayram, M. Gultekinoglu, S. Homer-Vanniasinkam, K. Ulubayram, M. Edirisinghe,
 Facile One-Pot Method for All Aqueous Green Formation of Biocompatible Silk Fibroin-Poly(Ethylene
 Oxide) Fibers for Use in Tissue Engineering, ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering 8(3) (2022) 12901300.
- 670 [10] H.D. Ghalehjooghi, H. Tajik, Y. Shahbazi, Development and characterization of active packaging 671 nanofiber mats based on gelatin-sodium alginate containing probiotic microorganisms to improve the
- shelf-life and safety quality of silver carp fillets, International Journal of Food Microbiology 384 (2023)
 109984.
- [11] H. Hosseini, M.K. Shahraky, A. Amani, F.S. Landi, Electrospinning of polyvinyl
 alcohol/chitosan/hyaluronic acid nanofiber containing growth hormone and its release investigations,
 Polymers for Advanced Technologies 32(2) (2021) 574-581.
- [12] V. Poursorkhabi, A.K. Mohanty, M. Misra, Electrospinning of aqueous lignin/poly(ethylene oxide)
 complexes, Journal of Applied Polymer Science 132(2) (2015).
- [13] H. Su, T. Fujiwara, J.D. Bumgardner, A study of combining elastin in the chitosan electrospinning to
 increase the mechanical strength and bioactivity, Marine drugs 19(3) (2021) 169.
- [14] K.P. Das, D. Sharma, B.K. Satapathy, Structurally stable polyvinyl alcohol/sodium alginate-based
 optimally designed electrospun mats as mechanistically robust controlled-urea-release-systems,
 Industrial Crops and Products 193 (2023) 116220.
- 684 [15] J.N. Hahladakis, C.A. Velis, R. Weber, E. Iacovidou, P. Purnell, An overview of chemical additives 685 present in plastics: Migration, release, fate and environmental impact during their use, disposal and 686 recycling, Journal of hazardous materials 344 (2018) 179-199.
- 687 [16] C. Cimpan, E.L. Bjelle, A.H. Strømman, Plastic packaging flows in Europe: A hybrid input-output 688 approach, Journal of Industrial Ecology 25(6) (2021) 1572-1587.

- [17] H.R. Bakhsheshi-Rad, Z. Hadisi, A.F. Ismail, M. Aziz, M. Akbari, F. Berto, X.B. Chen, In vitro and in vivo
 evaluation of chitosan-alginate/gentamicin wound dressing nanofibrous with high antibacterial
 performance, Polymer Testing 82 (2020) 106298.
- 692 [18] S. Dadashi, S. Boddohi, N. Soleimani, Preparation, characterization, and antibacterial effect of
 693 doxycycline loaded kefiran nanofibers, Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology 52 (2019) 979694 985.
- [19] M. Riechers, L. Fanini, A. Apicella, C.B. Galván, E. Blondel, B. Espiña, S. Kefer, T. Keroullé, K. Klun,
- T.R. Pereira, Plastics in our ocean as transdisciplinary challenge, Marine Pollution Bulletin 164 (2021)112051.
- 698 [20] M. Sendra, P. Pereiro, A. Figueras, B. Novoa, An integrative toxicogenomic analysis of plastic 699 additives, Journal of Hazardous Materials 409 (2021) 124975.
- [21] S.A. Mason, V.G. Welch, J. Neratko, Synthetic polymer contamination in bottled water, Frontiers inchemistry (2018) 407.
- [22] S. Kumar, E. Singh, R. Mishra, A. Kumar, S. Caucci, Utilization of plastic wastes for sustainable
 environmental management: a review, ChemSusChem 14(19) (2021) 3985-4006.
- [23] M. Shen, B. Song, G. Zeng, Y. Zhang, W. Huang, X. Wen, W. Tang, Are biodegradable plastics a
 promising solution to solve the global plastic pollution?, Environmental Pollution 263 (2020) 114469.
- [24] U. Arif, S. Haider, A. Haider, N. Khan, A.A. Alghyamah, N. Jamila, M.I. Khan, W.A. Almasry, I.-K. Kang,
 Biocompatible polymers and their potential biomedical applications: A review, Current pharmaceutical
 design 25(34) (2019) 3608-3619.
- [25] A. Noreen, J. Akram, I. Rasul, A. Mansha, N. Yaqoob, R. Iqbal, S. Tabasum, M. Zuber, K.M. Zia,
 Pectins functionalized biomaterials; a new viable approach for biomedical applications: A review,
 International journal of biological macromolecules 101 (2017) 254-272.
- 712 [26] F. Teles, F. Antunes, Biopolymers as alternatives to synthetic polymers in flame-retarded polymeric
- composites: A study of fire and mechanical behaviors, Journal of Vinyl and Additive Technology 29(1)
 (2023) 120-129.
- 715 [27] N.K. Singh, J. Baranwal, S. Pati, B. Barse, R.H. Khan, A. Kumar, Application of plant products in the 716 synthesis and functionalisation of biopolymers, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules
- 717 (2023) 124174.
- [28] M.H. Syed, M.A.K.M. Zahari, M.M.R. Khan, M.D.H. Beg, N. Abdullah, An overview on recent
 biomedical applications of biopolymers: Their role in drug delivery systems and comparison of major
 systems, Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology 80 (2023) 104121.
- [29] M.A. Ansari, Nanotechnology in Food and Plant Science: Challenges and Future Prospects, Plants
 12(13) (2023) 2565.
- 723 [30] Z. Kazemi-Taskooh, M. Varidi, How can plant-based protein–polysaccharide interactions affect the 724 properties of binary hydrogels?(A review), Food & Function (2023).
- 725 [31] R. Vaiciuleviciute, J. Pachaleva, U. Kalvaityte, V. Aleksiuk, I. Uzieliene, A. Mobasheri, E. Bernotiene,
- Extracellular Matrix Biomimicry for Cartilage Tissue Formation, Cartilage: From Biology to Biofabrication,
 Springer2023, pp. 209-253.
- [32] A. Patti, D. Acierno, Towards the Sustainability of the Plastic Industry through Biopolymers:
 Properties and Potential Applications to the Textiles World, Polymers 14(4) (2022) 692.
- [33] J. Singh, S. Singh, R. Gill, Applications of biopolymer coatings in biomedical engineering, Journal of
 Electrochemical Science and Engineering 13(1) (2023) 63-81.
- 732 [34] P. Ramesh, N. Moskwa, Z. Hanchon, A. Koplas, D.A. Nelson, K.L. Mills, J. Castracane, M. Larsen, S.T.
- Sharfstein, Y. Xie, Engineering cryoelectrospun elastin-alginate scaffolds to serve as stromal extracellular
 matrices, Biofabrication 14(3) (2022) 035010.
- 735 [35] G.P. Gopalan, S. Anas, Structural, Morphological, and Textural Properties of Biopolymers, Handbook
- 736 of Biopolymers (2023) 323.

- 737 [36] V. Núñez-Gómez, R. González-Barrio, M.J. Periago, Interaction between Dietary Fibre and Bioactive
- Compounds in Plant By-Products: Impact on Bioaccessibility and Bioavailability, Antioxidants 12(4)(2023) 976.
- [37] F. Falbo, U.G. Spizzirri, D. Restuccia, F. Aiello, Natural Compounds and Biopolymers-Based Hydrogels
 Join Forces to Promote Wound Healing, Pharmaceutics 15(1) (2023) 271.
- 742 [38] Aminatun, T. Suciati, Y.W. Sari, M. Sari, K.A. Alamsyah, W. Purnamasari, Y. Yusuf, Biopolymer-based
- polycaprolactone-hydroxyapatite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering, International Journal of
 Polymeric Materials and Polymeric Biomaterials 72(5) (2023) 376-385.
- [39] B.S. Heidari, R. Ruan, E. Vahabli, P. Chen, E.M. De-Juan-Pardo, M. Zheng, B. Doyle, Natural, synthetic
 and commercially-available biopolymers used to regenerate tendons and ligaments, Bioactive Materials
 19 (2023) 179-197.
- 748 [40] Z.J. Krysiak, U. Stachewicz, Electrospun fibers as carriers for topical drug delivery and release in skin
- bandages and patches for atopic dermatitis treatment, Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine
 and Nanobiotechnology 15(1) (2023) e1829.
- 751 [41] A. Abbasi, F. Khatoon, S. Ikram, A review on remediation of dye adulterated system by ecologically
- 752 innocuous "biopolymers/natural gums-based composites", International Journal of Biological753 Macromolecules (2023) 123240.
- [42] A. Das, T. Ringu, S. Ghosh, N. Pramanik, A comprehensive review on recent advances in preparation,
 physicochemical characterization, and bioengineering applications of biopolymers, Polymer Bulletin
 80(7) (2023) 7247-7312.
- [43] M.H. Syed, S. Qutaba, M.A.K.M. Zahari, N. Abdullah, M. Shoaib, H.F. Bashir, M.Q. Ali, R. Ali, A. Iqbal,
 Eco-friendly antimicrobial finishing of cotton fabrics using bioactive agents from novel Melia
 azedarachayan berries extract and their performance after subsequent washings.
- [44] S.M. Haider, Q. Syed, S. Lubna, Z.M.A.K. Mohd, A. Norhayati, A. Zamir, Greenly prepared
 antimicrobial cotton fabrics using bioactive agents from Cupressaceae pods, Surface Innovations 0(0) 1 13.
- [45] S. Hasan, M.A. Hasan, M.U. Hassan, M. Amin, T. Javed, L. Fatima, Biopolymers in diabetic wound
 care management: A potential substitute to traditional dressings, European Polymer Journal (2023)
- 765 111979.
- [46] M. Haider Syed, M. Maksudur Rahman Khan, M. Ahmad Khushairi Mohd Zahari, M. Dalour Hossen
 Beg, N. Abdullah, A Review on Current Trends and Future Prospectives of Electrospun Biopolymeric
 Nanofibers for Biomedical Applications, European Polymer Journal (2023) 112352.
- [47] C. Shi, D. Fang, C. Huang, L. Lyu, W. Wu, W. Li, Electrospun biopolymer material for antimicrobial
 function of fresh fruit and vegetables: Application perspective and challenges, LWT (2023) 114374.
- [48] S.S. Ganesh, R. Anushikaa, V.S. Swetha Victoria, K. Lavanya, A. Shanmugavadivu, N. Selvamurugan,
- Recent Advancements in Electrospun Chitin and Chitosan Nanofibers for Bone Tissue Engineering
 Applications, Journal of Functional Biomaterials 14(5) (2023) 288.
- [49] M. Kumar, Y. Ge, A.R. Hilles, A. Bhatia, S. Mahmood, A review on polysaccharides mediated
 electrospun nanofibers for diabetic wound healing: Their current status with regulatory perspective,
 International journal of biological macromolecules (2023) 123696.
- [50] G. Akhouy, K. Aziz, L. Gebrati, M. El Achaby, Y. Akgul, P.-S. Yap, T. Agustiono Kurniawan, F. Aziz,
 Recent applications on biopolymers electrospinning: strategies, challenges and way forwards, PolymerPlastics Technology and Materials (2023) 1-22.
- 780 [51] J.X. Yap, C. Leo, N.H. Mohd Yasin, P.L. Show, D.-T. Chu, V. Singh, C. Derek, Recent advances of
- 781 natural biopolymeric culture scaffold: synthesis and modification, Bioengineered 13(2) (2022) 2226-
- 782 2247.

[52] Y.A. Amnieh, S. Ghadirian, N. Mohammadi, M. Shadkhast, S. Karbasi, Evaluation of the effects of
 chitosan nanoparticles on polyhydroxy butyrate electrospun scaffolds for cartilage tissue engineering
 applications, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 249 (2023) 126064.

- [53] A.R. Ahmady, A. Solouk, S. Saber-Samandari, S. Akbari, H. Ghanbari, B.E. Brycki, Capsaicin-loaded
 alginate nanoparticles embedded polycaprolactone-chitosan nanofibers as a controlled drug delivery
 nanoplatform for anticancer activity, Journal of Colloid and Interface Science 638 (2023) 616-628.
- [54] Y. Zhu, S. Jiang, D. Xu, G. Cheng, B. Shi, Resveratrol-loaded co-axial electrospun poly(ε caprolactone)/chitosan/polyvinyl alcohol membranes for promotion of cells osteogenesis and bone
 regeneration, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 249 (2023) 126085.
- [55] C. Wang, J. Wang, L. Zeng, Z. Qiao, X. Liu, H. Liu, J. Zhang, J. Ding, Fabrication of electrospun polymer
 nanofibers with diverse morphologies, Molecules 24(5) (2019) 834.
- [56] T. Riaz, N. Gull, A. Islam, M.R. Dilshad, L.I. Atanase, C. Delaite, Needleless electrospinning of poly (E caprolactone) nanofibers deposited on gelatin film for controlled release of Ibuprofen, Chemical Papers
 77(5) (2023) 2657-2669.
- [57] S. Wu, W. Zhao, M. Sun, P. He, H. Lv, Q. Wang, S. Zhang, Q. Wu, P. Ling, S. Chen, J. Ma, Novel bilayered dressing patches constructed with radially-oriented nanofibrous pattern and herbal compoundloaded hydrogel for accelerated diabetic wound healing, Applied Materials Today 28 (2022) 101542.
- 199 loaded hydrogel for accelerated diabetic wound healing, Applied Materials Today 28 (2022) 101542.
- [58] N. Arifin, I. Sudin, N.H.A. Ngadiman, M.S.A. Ishak, A Comprehensive Review of Biopolymer
 Fabrication in Additive Manufacturing Processing for 3D-Tissue-Engineering Scaffolds, Polymers 14(10)
 (2022) 2119.
- [59] M.M. Abdul Hameed, S.A.P. Mohamed Khan, B.M. Thamer, N. Rajkumar, H. El-Hamshary, M.
 El-Newehy, Electrospun nanofibers for drug delivery applications: Methods and mechanism, Polymers
 for Advanced Technologies 34(1) (2023) 6-23.
- 806 [60] X. Lu, H. Jiao, Y. Shi, Y. Li, H. Zhang, Y. Fu, J. Guo, Q. Wang, X. Liu, M. Zhou, Fabrication of bio-807 inspired anisotropic structures from biopolymers for biomedical applications: A review, Carbohydrate 808 Polymers (2023) 120669.
- 809 [61] M.S. Mirbagheri, S. Akhavan-Mahdavi, A. Hasan, M.S. Kharazmi, S.M. Jafari, Chitosan-based
- electrospun nanofibers for diabetic foot ulcer management; recent advances, Carbohydrate Polymers 810 (2023) 120512.
- [62] M. Degli Esposti, M. Changizi, R. Salvatori, L. Chiarini, V. Cannillo, D. Morselli, P. Fabbri, Comparative
 Study on Bioactive Filler/Biopolymer Scaffolds for Potential Application in Supporting Bone Tissue
 Regeneration, ACS Applied Polymer Materials (2022).
- 815 [63] J. Jeevanandam, S. Pan, J. Rodrigues, M. Abd Elkodous, M.K. Danquah, Medical applications of 816 biopolymer nanofibers, Biomaterials Science 10(15) (2022) 4107-4118.
- [64] M. Tahir, S. Vicini, A. Sionkowska, Electrospun Materials Based on Polymer and Biopolymer
 Blends—A Review, Polymers 15(7) (2023) 1654.
- [65] A. Abutaleb, V. ArunPrasanna, Fabrication of biopolymer nanofibers from natural sources, Textile
 Research Journal 92(9-10) (2022) 1694-1725.
- [66] A. Sabab, S. Vreugde, A. Jukes, P.-J. Wormald, The potential of chitosan-based haemostats for use in
 neurosurgical setting–Literature review, Journal of Clinical Neuroscience 94 (2021) 128-134.
- 823 [67] M. Gruppuso, F. Iorio, G. Turco, E. Marsich, D. Porrelli, Hyaluronic acid/lactose-modified chitosan
- electrospun wound dressings–Crosslinking and stability criticalities, Carbohydrate Polymers 288 (2022)
 119375.
- [68] Z. Patel, S.A. Gharat, M.M. Al-Tabakha, A. Ashames, S.H. Boddu, M.M. Momin, Recent
 Advancements in Electrospun Nanofibers for Wound Healing: Polymers, Clinical and Regulatory
 Perspective, Critical Reviews™ in Therapeutic Drug Carrier Systems 39(4) (2022).
- [69] J.R. Davidson, Current concepts in wound management and wound healing products, Veterinary
 Clinics: Small Animal Practice 45(3) (2015) 537-564.

- 831 [70] K. Król-Morkisz, K. Pielichowska, Thermal decomposition of polymer nanocomposites with 832 functionalized nanoparticles, Polymer composites with functionalized nanoparticles, Elsevier2019, pp.
- 833 405-435.
- 834 [71] Z. Yuan, J. Cheng, G. Lan, F. Lu, A cellulose/Konjac glucomannan–based macroporous antibacterial
- 835 wound dressing with synergistic and complementary effects for accelerated wound healing, Cellulose 836 28(9) (2021) 5591-5609.
- 837 [72] Y. Gao, Y. Sun, H. Yang, P. Qiu, Z. Cong, Y. Zou, L. Song, J. Guo, T.P. Anastassiades, A low molecular
- 838 weight hyaluronic acid derivative accelerates excisional wound healing by modulating pro-inflammation,
- promoting epithelialization and neovascularization, and remodeling collagen, International journal ofmolecular sciences 20(15) (2019) 3722.
- 841 [73] L.T. Senbanjo, M.A. Chellaiah, CD44: a multifunctional cell surface adhesion receptor is a regulator 842 of progression and metastasis of cancer cells, Frontiers in cell and developmental biology 5 (2017) 18.
- 843 [74] K.L. Aya, R. Stern, Hyaluronan in wound healing: rediscovering a major player, Wound repair and 844 regeneration 22(5) (2014) 579-593.
- [75] K.Y. Lee, D.J. Mooney, Alginate: Properties and biomedical applications, Progress in Polymer Science
 37(1) (2012) 106-126.
- 847 [76] S. Selvaraj, C. Inbasekar, S. Pandurangan, N.F. Nishter, Collagen-coated silk fibroin nanofibers with
- antioxidants for enhanced wound healing, Journal of Biomaterials Science, Polymer Edition 34(1) (2023)35-52.
- [77] A. Hernández-Rangel, E.S. Martin-Martinez, Collagen based electrospun materials for skin wounds
 treatment, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A 109(9) (2021) 1751-1764.
- 852 [78] E. Rezvani Ghomi, S. Khalili, S. Nouri Khorasani, R. Esmaeely Neisiany, S. Ramakrishna, Wound
- dressings: Current advances and future directions, Journal of Applied Polymer Science 136(27) (2019)
 47738.
- [79] K. Zhang, Y. Liu, X. Shi, R. Zhang, Y. He, H. Zhang, W. Wang, Application of polyvinyl alcohol/chitosan
 copolymer hydrogels in biomedicine: A review, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 242
 (2022) 125102
- (2023) 125192.
 [80] E.A. Kamoun, S.A. Loutfy, Y. Hussein, E.-R.S. Kenawy, Recent advances in PVA-polysaccharide based
 budge sele and electronomy of them in biomedical combinations. A maximum later strength for the selectron of the sel
- hydrogels and electrospun nanofibers in biomedical applications: A review, International Journal of
 Biological Macromolecules 187 (2021) 755-768.
- [81] N.C. Paxton, M.C. Allenby, P.M. Lewis, M.A. Woodruff, Biomedical applications of polyethylene,
 European Polymer Journal 118 (2019) 412-428.
- [82] M. Singhvi, S. Zinjarde, D. Gokhale, Polylactic acid: Synthesis and biomedical applications, Journal of
 applied microbiology 127(6) (2019) 1612-1626.
- 865 [83] H. Maleki, B. Azimi, S. Ismaeilimoghadam, S. Danti, Poly (lactic acid)-based electrospun fibrous 866 structures for biomedical applications, Applied Sciences 12(6) (2022) 3192.
- [84] N. Ehsani, H. Rostamabadi, S. Dadashi, B. Ghanbarzadeh, M.S. Kharazmi, S.M. Jafari, Electrospun
 nanofibers fabricated by natural biopolymers for intelligent food packaging, Critical Reviews in Food
 Science and Nutrition (2022) 1-23.
- [85] Z. Wu, S. Chen, J. Li, B. Wang, M. Jin, Q. Liang, D. Zhang, Z. Han, L. Deng, X. Qu, Insights into
 hierarchical structure–property–application relationships of advanced bacterial cellulose materials,
 Advanced Functional Materials 33(12) (2023) 2214327.
- 873 [86] M. Janmohammadi, Z. Nazemi, A.O.M. Salehi, A. Seyfoori, J.V. John, M.S. Nourbakhsh, M. Akbari,
- 874 Cellulose-based composite scaffolds for bone tissue engineering and localized drug delivery, Bioactive
- 875 Materials 20 (2023) 137-163.
- 876 [87] S. Sepahvand, A. Ashori, M. Jonoobi, Application of cellulose nanofiber as a promising air filter for
- adsorbing particulate matter and carbon dioxide, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules
- 878 (2023) 125344.

- [88] B. Zhang, W. Duan, Y. Wang, L. Dai, B. Cai, L. Kong, J. Fan, G. Zhang, L. Wang, W. Wu, Recent
 advances of cellulose nanofiber-based materials in cell culture: From population to single-cell, TrAC
 Trends in Analytical Chemistry (2023) 117159.
- 882 [89] H. Abushammala, J. Mao, A review of the surface modification of cellulose and nanocellulose using 883 aliphatic and aromatic mono-and di-isocyanates, Molecules 24(15) (2019) 2782.
- [90] J. Kerwald, C.F. de Moura Junior, E.D. Freitas, J.d.D.P. de Moraes Segundo, R.S. Vieira, M.M. Beppu,
 Cellulose-based electrospun nanofibers: a review, Cellulose 29(1) (2022) 25-54.
- 886 [91] E.M. Çanga, F.C. Dudak, Improved digestive stability of probiotics encapsulated within poly(vinyl alcohol)/cellulose acetate hybrid fibers, Carbohydrate Polymers 264 (2021) 117990.
- [92] S. Chahal, S.J.H. Fathima, M.B.M. Yusoff, Biomimetic growth of bone-like apatite via simulated body
 fluid on hydroxyethyl cellulose/polyvinyl alcohol electrospun nanofibers, Bio-medical materials and
 engineering 24(1) (2014) 799-806.
- [93] V. Vatanpour, M.E. Pasaoglu, H. Barzegar, O.O. Teber, R. Kaya, M. Bastug, A. Khataee, I. Koyuncu,
 Cellulose acetate in fabrication of polymeric membranes: A review, Chemosphere (2022) 133914.
- [94] S. Selvaraj, R. Thangam, N.N. Fathima, Electrospinning of casein nanofibers with silver nanoparticles
 for potential biomedical applications, International journal of biological macromolecules 120 (2018)
 1674-1681.
- 895 1674-1681.
 896 [95] A. Mianehro, Electrospun Bioscaffold Based on Cellulose Acetate and Dendrimer-modified Cellulose
- Nanocrystals for Controlled Drug Release, Carbohydrate Polymer Technologies and Applications 3 (2022)
 100187.
- [96] N.A. Elmaghraby, A.M. Omer, E.-R. Kenawy, M. Gaber, A. El Nemr, Electrospun composites
 nanofibers from cellulose acetate/carbon black as efficient adsorbents for heavy and light machine oil
 from aquatic environment, Journal of the Iranian Chemical Society (2022) 1-15.
- 902 [97] A. Paria, V.K. Rai, The fate of carboxymethyl cellulose as a polymer of pharmaceutical importance,
 903 Biological Sciences 2(2) (2022) 204-215.
- 904 [98] S. Azhdari, M. Moradi, Application of antimicrobial coating based on carboxymethyl cellulose and
 905 natamycin in active packaging of cheese, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 209 (2022)
 906 2042-2049.
- 907 [99] F. Kazeminava, S. Javanbakht, M. Nouri, K. Adibkia, K. Ganbarov, M. Yousefi, M. Ahmadi, P. 908 Gholizadeh, H.S. Kafil, Electrospun nanofibers based on carboxymethyl cellulose/polyvinyl alcohol as a
- 909 potential antimicrobial wound dressing, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 214 (2022)
 910 111-119.
- 911 [100] S. Saraiva, P. Pereira, C.T. Paula, R.C. Rebelo, J.F.J. Coelho, A.C. Serra, A.C. Fonseca, Development
- of electrospun mats based on hydrophobic hydroxypropyl cellulose derivatives, Materials Science and
 Engineering: C 131 (2021) 112498.
- 914 [101] S. Wang, M. Tian, S. Hu, W. Zhai, G. Zheng, C. Liu, C. Shen, K. Dai, Hierarchical nanofibrous mat via
- 915 water-assisted electrospinning for self-powered ultrasensitive vibration sensors, Nano Energy 97 (2022)
 916 107149.
- 917 [102] J. Ralph, C. Lapierre, W. Boerjan, Lignin structure and its engineering, Current opinion in 918 biotechnology 56 (2019) 240-249.
- 919 [103] R. Katahira, T.J. Elder, G.T. Beckham, A brief introduction to lignin structure, (2018).
- 920 [104] P. Figueiredo, K. Lintinen, J.T. Hirvonen, M.A. Kostiainen, H.A. Santos, Properties and chemical
- 921 modifications of lignin: Towards lignin-based nanomaterials for biomedical applications, Progress in
- 922 Materials Science 93 (2018) 233-269.
- 923 [105] D. Kai, W. Ren, L. Tian, P.L. Chee, Y. Liu, S. Ramakrishna, X.J. Loh, Engineering poly (lactide)–lignin
- 924 nanofibers with antioxidant activity for biomedical application, ACS Sustainable Chemistry & Engineering
- 925 4(10) (2016) 5268-5276.

- [106] K. Xu, Q. Li, L. Xie, Z. Shi, G. Su, D. Harper, Z. Tang, J. Zhou, G. Du, S. Wang, Novel flexible, strong,
 thermal-stable, and high-barrier switchgrass-based lignin-containing cellulose nanofibrils/chitosan
 biocomposites for food packaging, Industrial Crops and Products 179 (2022) 114661.
- 929 [107] Z.M. Şenol, S. Kaya, S. Şimşek, K. Katin, A. Özer, R. Marzouki, Synthesis and characterization of
- 930 chitosan-vermiculite-lignin ternary composite as an adsorbent for effective removal of uranyl ions from
- 931 aqueous solution: Experimental and theoretical analyses, International Journal of Biological
- 932 Macromolecules 209 (2022) 1234-1247.
- [108] Z. Zhu, W. Wang, Z. Liu, C. Gao, N. Xia, P. Fatehi, F. Kong, S. Wang, High-strength, lightweight and
 sustainable lignin contained cellulose nanofiber bulk materials for plastic replacement, Industrial Crops
 and Products 185 (2022) 115106.
- 936 [109] L. Xia, H. Feng, Q. Zhang, X. Luo, P. Fei, F. Li, Centrifugal spinning of lignin amine/cellulose acetate 937 nanofiber for heavy metal ion adsorption, Fibers and Polymers 23(1) (2022) 77-85.
- 938 [110] R. Liang, X. Yang, P.Y.M. Yew, S. Sugiarto, Q. Zhu, J. Zhao, X.J. Loh, L. Zheng, D. Kai, PLA-lignin 939 nanofibers as antioxidant biomaterials for cartilage regeneration and osteoarthritis treatment, (2022).
- 940 [111] K. NOGUEIRA, J. VARCA, C. LIMA, C. da CRUZ, A. RIBEIRO, L. FREITAS, G. VARCA, A. LUGAO,
 941 Development of Lignin/PEO nanofibers by electrospinning technique for tissue engineering application.
- [112] E.-S. Lee, Y.-O. Kim, Y.-M. Ha, D. Lim, J.Y. Hwang, J. Kim, M. Park, J.W. Cho, Y.C. Jung, Antimicrobial
 properties of lignin-decorated thin multi-walled carbon nanotubes in poly (vinyl alcohol)
 nanocomposites, European Polymer Journal 105 (2018) 79-84.
- 945 [113] B. Li, X. Xia, J. Chen, D. Xia, R. Xu, X. Zou, H. Wang, C. Liang, Paclitaxel-loaded lignin particle
 946 encapsulated into electrospun PVA/PVP composite nanofiber for effective cervical cancer cell inhibition,
 947 Nanotechnology 32(1) (2020) 015101.
- 948 [114] H. Cortes, I.H. Caballero-Florán, N. Mendoza-Muñoz, E.N. Córdova-Villanueva, L. Escutia-949 Guadarrama, G. Figueroa-González, O.D. Reyes-Hernández, M. González-Del Carmen, M. Varela-
- Cardoso, J.J. Magaña, B.n. Florán, M.a.L. Del Prado-Audelo, G. Leyva-Gómez, Hyaluronic acid in wound
 dressings, Cellular and Molecular Biology 66(4) (2020) 191-198.
- [115] B.T. Iber, N.A. Kasan, D. Torsabo, J.W. Omuwa, A review of various sources of chitin and chitosanin nature, Journal of Renewable Materials 10(4) (2022) 1097.
- [116] F. Salehinik, T. Behzad, A. Zamani, B. Bahrami, Extraction and characterization of fungal chitin
 nanofibers from Mucor indicus cultured in optimized medium conditions, International Journal of
 Biological Macromolecules 167 (2021) 1126-1134.
- 957 [117] M. Rasweefali, S. Sabu, K.M. Azad, M.R. Rahman, K. Sunooj, A. Sasidharan, K. Anoop, Influence of
- 958 deproteinization and demineralization process sequences on the physicochemical and structural 959 characteristics of chitin isolated from Deep-sea mud shrimp (Solenocera hextii), Advances in Biomarker
- 960 Sciences and Technology 4 (2022) 12-27.
- 961 [118] F. Hisham, M.M. Akmal, F. Ahmad, K. Ahmad, N. Samat, Biopolymer chitosan: Potential sources,
 962 extraction methods, and emerging applications, Ain Shams Engineering Journal (2023) 102424.
- 963 [119] U. Shahbaz, S. Basharat, U. Javed, A. Bibi, X.B. Yu, Chitosan: a multipurpose polymer in food 964 industry, Polymer Bulletin 80(4) (2023) 3547-3569.
- 965 [120] K. Mohan, A.R. Ganesan, P.N. Ezhilarasi, K.K. Kondamareddy, D.K. Rajan, P. Sathishkumar, J.
 966 Rajarajeswaran, L. Conterno, Green and eco-friendly approaches for the extraction of chitin and
 967 chitosan: A review, Carbohydrate Polymers 287 (2022) 119349.
- 968 [121] M.H. Syed, S.A. Rubab, S.R. Abbas, S. Qutaba, M.A.K. Mohd Zahari, N. Abdullah, Effects of
- 969 cadmium acetate contaminated drinking water on vital organs: A histopathological and biochemical
 970 study, Journal of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology n/a(n/a) e23382.
- 971 [122] U. Ullah, M. Haider Syed, D. Ghauri, F. Sher, M.I. Cheema, Fluoride detection in drinking water
- using evanescent fiber cavity ring down spectroscopy, SPIE2021.

- 973 [123] A.Z. Hameed, S.A. Raj, J. Kandasamy, M.A. Baghdadi, M.A. Shahzad, Chitosan: A Sustainable
 974 Material for Multifarious Applications, Polymers 14(12) (2022) 2335.
- 975 [124] M.N. Sakib, A.K. Mallik, M.M. Rahman, Update on chitosan-based electrospun nanofibers for 976 wastewater treatment: A review, Carbohydrate Polymer Technologies and Applications 2 (2021) 100064.
- wastewater treatment: A review, Carbohydrate Polymer Technologies and Applications 2 (2021) 100064.
 [125] E. Saatcioglu, S. Ulag, A. Sahin, B.K. Yilmaz, N. Ekren, A.T. Inan, Y. Palaci, C.B. Ustundag, O. Gunduz,
- 978 Design and fabrication of electrospun polycaprolactone/chitosan scaffolds for ligament regeneration,
- 979 European Polymer Journal 148 (2021) 110357.
- 980 [126] K. Kalantari, A.M. Afifi, H. Jahangirian, T.J. Webster, Biomedical applications of chitosan 981 electrospun nanofibers as a green polymer–Review, Carbohydrate polymers 207 (2019) 588-600.
- 982 [127] C. Cui, S. Sun, S. Wu, S. Chen, J. Ma, F. Zhou, Electrospun chitosan nanofibers for wound healing 983 application, Engineered Regeneration 2 (2021) 82-90.
- 984 [128] S. Sapkota, S.-F. Chou, Electrospun chitosan-based fibers for wound healing applications, Journal 985 of biomaterials 4(2) (2020) 51.
- [129] S.B. Qasim, M.S. Zafar, S. Najeeb, Z. Khurshid, A.H. Shah, S. Husain, I.U. Rehman, Electrospinning of
 chitosan-based solutions for tissue engineering and regenerative medicine, International journal of
 molecular sciences 19(2) (2018) 407.
- 989 [130] C. Li, T. Lou, X. Yan, Y.-z. Long, G. Cui, X. Wang, Fabrication of pure chitosan nanofibrous
- 990 membranes as effective absorbent for dye removal, International journal of biological macromolecules 991 106 (2018) 768-774.
- [131] V. Korniienko, Y. Husak, A. Yanovska, R. Banasiuk, A. Yusupova, A. Savchenko, V. Holubnycha, M.
 Pogorielov, Functional and biological characterization of chitosan electrospun nanofibrous membrane
 nucleated with silver nanoparticles, Applied Nanoscience 12(4) (2022) 1061-1070.
- [132] H. Su, T. Fujiwara, K.M. Anderson, A. Karydis, M.N. Ghadri, J.D. Bumgardner, A comparison of two
 types of electrospun chitosan membranes and a collagen membrane in vivo, Dental Materials 37(1)
 (2021) 60-70.
- 998 [133] D.-N. Phan, H. Lee, B. Huang, Y. Mukai, I.-S. Kim, Fabrication of electrospun chitosan/cellulose
 999 nanofibers having adsorption property with enhanced mechanical property, Cellulose 26(3) (2019) 17811000 1793.
- 1001 [134] Z. Cui, Z. Zheng, L. Lin, J. Si, Q. Wang, X. Peng, W. Chen, Electrospinning and crosslinking of 1002 polyvinyl alcohol/chitosan composite nanofiber for transdermal drug delivery, Advances in Polymer 1003 Technology 37(6) (2018) 1917-1928.
- 1004 [135] X. Zhao, X. Wang, T. Lou, Simultaneous adsorption for cationic and anionic dyes using
 1005 chitosan/electrospun sodium alginate nanofiber composite sponges, Carbohydrate Polymers 276 (2022)
 1006 118728.
- 1007 [136] W. Peng, D. Li, K. Dai, Y. Wang, P. Song, H. Li, P. Tang, Z. Zhang, Z. Li, Y. Zhou, Recent progress of
 1008 collagen, chitosan, alginate and other hydrogels in skin repair and wound dressing applications,
 1009 International Journal of Biological Macromolecules (2022).
- 1010 [137] P. Wang, Y. Zou, Y. Li, Z. Qin, X. Liu, H. Zhang, pH-sensitive self-assembled nanofibers based on
- 1011 electrostatic interaction and Schiff base bonding for controlled release of curcumin, Food Hydrocolloids1012 (2022) 107805.
- [138] Z.-y. Qin, X.-W. Jia, Q. Liu, B.-h. Kong, H. Wang, Fast dissolving oral films for drug delivery prepared
 from chitosan/pullulan electrospinning nanofibers, International journal of biological macromolecules
 137 (2019) 224-231.
- 1016 [139] Z. Qin, X. Jia, Q. Liu, B. Kong, H. Wang, Enhancing physical properties of chitosan/pullulan
- 1017 electrospinning nanofibers via green crosslinking strategies, Carbohydrate polymers 247 (2020) 116734.
- 1018 [140] L.V. Hai, L. Zhai, H.C. Kim, P.S. Panicker, D.H. Pham, J. Kim, Chitosan nanofiber and cellulose
- 1019 nanofiber blended composite applicable for active food packaging, Nanomaterials 10(9) (2020) 1752.

1020 [141] F. Asghari, D.R. Faradonbeh, Z.V. Malekshahi, H. Nekounam, B. Ghaemi, Y. Yousefpoor, H.
1021 Ghanbari, R. Faridi-Majidi, Hybrid PCL/chitosan-PEO nanofibrous scaffolds incorporated with A.
1022 euchroma extract for skin tissue engineering application, Carbohydrate Polymers 278 (2022) 118926.

- 1023 [142] J. Cao, H. Zhang, Q. Nian, Q. Xu, Electrospun chitosan/polyethylene oxide nanofibers mat loaded 1024 with copper (II) as a new sensor for colorimetric detection of tetracycline, International Journal of 1025 Biological Macromolecules (2022).
- [143] M. Bagheri, M. Validi, A. Gholipour, P. Makvandi, E. Sharifi, Chitosan nanofiber biocomposites for
 potential wound healing applications: Antioxidant activity with synergic antibacterial effect,
 Bioengineering & translational medicine 7(1) (2022) e10254.
- [144] N. Rosli, W.Z.N. Yahya, M.D.H. Wirzal, Crosslinked chitosan/poly (vinyl alcohol) nanofibers
 functionalized by ionic liquid for heavy metal ions removal, International Journal of Biological
 Macromolecules 195 (2022) 132-141.
- [145] M. Abasalta, A. Asefnejad, M.T. Khorasani, A.R. Saadatabadi, M. Irani, Adsorption and sustained
 release of doxorubicin from N-carboxymethyl chitosan/polyvinyl alcohol/poly (ε-caprolactone)
 composite and core-shell nanofibers, Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology 67 (2022)
 102937.
- 1036 [146] R. Gadkari, S.W. Ali, A. Das, R. Alagirusamy, Silver Nanowires Embedded Chitosan/Poly-Lactic Acid
 1037 Electrospun Nanocomposite Web Based Nanofibrous Multifunctional Membrane for Safe Water
 1038 Purification, Advanced Sustainable Systems (2022) 2100360.
- 1039 [147] J. Yin, L. Xu, A. Ahmed, Batch Preparation and Characterization of Electrospun Porous Polylactic
 1040 Acid-Based Nanofiber Membranes for Antibacterial Wound Dressing, Advanced Fiber Materials (2022)
 1041 1-13.
- 1042 [148] M. Ranjbar-Mohammadi, V. Sa'di, M. Moezzi, R. Saghafi, Fabrication and Characterization of
 1043 Antibacterial Suture Yarns Containing PLA/Tetracycline Hydrochloride-PVA/Chitosan Nanofibers, Fibers
 1044 and Polymers (2022) 1-10.
- 1045 [149] S. Zhang, J. Dong, R. Pan, Z. Xu, M. Li, R. Zang, Structures, Properties, and Bioengineering 1046 Applications of Alginates and Hyaluronic Acid, Polymers 15(9) (2023) 2149.
- 1047 [150] G. Abatangelo, V. Vindigni, G. Avruscio, L. Pandis, P. Brun, Hyaluronic Acid: Redefining Its Role, 1048 Cells 9(7) (2020) 1743.
- 1049 [151] L.H. Chen, J.F. Xue, Z.Y. Zheng, M. Shuhaidi, H.E. Thu, Z. Hussain, Hyaluronic acid, an efficient 1050 biomacromolecule for treatment of inflammatory skin and joint diseases: A review of recent 1051 developments and critical appraisal of preclinical and clinical investigations, International journal of 1052 biological macromolecules 116 (2018) 572-584.
- 1053 [152] S. Chavda, S.A. Rabbani, T. Wadhwa, Role and effectiveness of intra-articular injection of 1054 hyaluronic acid in the treatment of knee osteoarthritis: A systematic review, Cureus 14(4) (2022).
- 1055 [153] N.d.R. Ferreira, C.K. Sanz, A. Raybolt, C.M. Pereira, M.F. DosSantos, Action of hyaluronic acid as a 1056 damage-associated molecular pattern molecule and its function on the treatment of 1057 temporomandibular disorders, Frontiers in Pain Research 3 (2022) 24.
- 1058 [154] V. Machado, M. Morais, R. Medeiros, Hyaluronic acid-based nanomaterials applied to cancer:
 1059 Where are we now?, Pharmaceutics 14(10) (2022) 2092.
- [155] L.E. Puluhulawa, I.M. Joni, K.M. Elamin, A.F.A. Mohammed, M. Muchtaridi, N. Wathoni, Chitosan–
 Hyaluronic Acid Nanoparticles for Active Targeting in Cancer Therapy, Polymers 14(16) (2022) 3410.
- 1062 [156] P. Heydari, M. Kharaziha, J. Varshosaz, S.H. Javanmard, Current knowledge of immunomodulation
- strategies for chronic skin wound repair, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: AppliedBiomaterials 110(2) (2022) 265-288.
- 1065 [157] J. Pizano-Andrade, B. Vargas-Guerrero, C. Gurrola-Díaz, J. Vargas-Radillo, M. Ruiz-López, Natural 1066 products and their mechanisms in potential photoprotection of the skin, Journal of Biosciences 47(4)
- 1067 (2022) 77.

- 1068[158] F. Bernerd, T. Passeron, I. Castiel, C. Marionnet, The damaging effects of long UVA (UVA1) rays: a1069major challenge to preserve skin health and integrity, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 23(15)10691069
- 1070 (2022) 8243.
- 1071 [159] Y. Song, Y. Zhang, Q. Qu, X. Zhang, T. Lu, J. Xu, W. Ma, M. Zhu, C. Huang, R. Xiong, Biomaterials
 1072 based on hyaluronic acid, collagen and peptides for three-dimensional cell culture and their application
 1073 in stem cell differentiation, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules (2022).
- 1074 [160] A. Yasin, Y. Ren, J. Li, Y. Sheng, C. Cao, K. Zhang, Advances in hyaluronic acid for biomedical 1075 applications, Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology 10 (2022).
- 1076 [161] S. Aubry, P.-Y. Collart-Dutilleul, M. Renaud, D. Batifol, S. Montal, L. Pourreyron, D. Carayon, Benefit
 1077 of Hyaluronic Acid to Treat Facial Aging in Completely Edentulous Patients, Journal of Clinical Medicine
 1078 11(19) (2022) 5874.
- 1079 [162] F. Della Sala, G. Longobardo, A. Fabozzi, M. di Gennaro, A. Borzacchiello, Hyaluronic acid-based
 1080 wound dressing with antimicrobial properties for wound healing application, Applied Sciences 12(6)
 1081 (2022) 3091.
- 1082 [163] E. Tsanaktsidou, O. Kammona, C. Kiparissides, Recent developments in hyaluronic acid-based
 1083 hydrogels for cartilage tissue engineering applications, Polymers 14(4) (2022) 839.
- 1084 [164] Y. Qiu, Y. Ma, Y. Huang, S. Li, H. Xu, E. Su, Current advances in the biosynthesis of hyaluronic acid 1085 with variable molecular weights, Carbohydrate Polymers 269 (2021) 118320.
- 1086 [165] K. Valachová, L. Šoltés, Hyaluronan as a Prominent Biomolecule with Numerous Applications in
 1087 Medicine, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22(13) (2021) 7077.
- 1088 [166] L. Bardoňová, A. Kotzianová, K. Skuhrovcová, O. Židek, H. Vágnerová, J. Kulhánek, T. Hanová, M.
 1089 Knor, J. Starigazdová, K. Mamulová Kutláková, V. Velebný, Effects of emulsion, dispersion, and blend
 1090 electrospinning on hyaluronic acid nanofibers with incorporated antiseptics, International Journal of
 1091 Biological Macromolecules 194 (2022) 726-735.
- 1092 [167] E. Arslan, M. Sardan Ekiz, C. Eren Cimenci, N. Can, M.H. Gemci, H. Ozkan, M.O. Guler, A.B. Tekinay,
 1093 Protective therapeutic effects of peptide nanofiber and hyaluronic acid hybrid membrane in in vivo
 1094 osteoarthritis model, Acta Biomaterialia 73 (2018) 263-274.
- 1095 [168] H. Xu, Z. Wu, D. Zhao, H. Liang, H. Yuan, C. Wang, Preparation and characterization of electrospun
- nanofibers-based facial mask containing hyaluronic acid as a moisturizing component and huangshui
 polysaccharide as an antioxidant component, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 214
 (2022) 212-219.
- 1099 [169] M.R. El-Aassar, N.G. El-Beheri, M.M. Agwa, H.M. Eltaher, M. Alseqely, W.S. Sadik, L. El-Khordagui,
 1100 Antibiotic-free combinational hyaluronic acid blend nanofibers for wound healing enhancement,
 1101 International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 167 (2021) 1552-1563.
- [170] N.V. Dubashynskaya, A.N. Bokatyi, E.R. Gasilova, A.V. Dobrodumov, Y.A. Dubrovskii, E.S. Knyazeva,
 Y.A. Nashchekina, E.V. Demyanova, Y.A. Skorik, Hyaluronan-colistin conjugates: Synthesis,
 characterization, and prospects for medical applications, International Journal of Biological
 Macromolecules 215 (2022) 243-252.
- 1106 [171] H. Supriya, T. Sandeep, S. Bose, A review of past promises, present realities and a vibrant future1107 for wound dressing from naturally occurring to sustainable materials, RSC Sustainability (2023).
- 1108 [172] B. Vigani, S. Rossi, G. Sandri, M.C. Bonferoni, C.M. Caramella, F. Ferrari, Hyaluronic acid and 1109 chitosan-based nanosystems: A new dressing generation for wound care, Expert opinion on drug 1110 delivery 16(7) (2019) 715-740.
- 1111 [173] K. Valachová, M.A. El Meligy, L. Šoltés, Hyaluronic acid and chitosan-based electrospun wound 1112 dressings: Problems and solutions, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules (2022).
- 1113 [174] E. Pabjańczyk-Wlazło, P. Król, I. Krucińska, M. Chrzanowski, M. Puchalski, G. Szparaga, S.
- 1114 Kadłubowski, M. Boguń, Bioactive nanofibrous structures based on hyaluronic acid, Advances in Polymer
- 1115 Technology 37(6) (2018) 1929-1940.

- 1116 [175] M. Séon-Lutz, A.-C. Couffin, S. Vignoud, G. Schlatter, A. Hébraud, Electrospinning in water and in 1117 situ crosslinking of hyaluronic acid/cyclodextrin nanofibers: Towards wound dressing with controlled
- 1118 drug release, Carbohydrate polymers 207 (2019) 276-287.
- 1119 [176] M. El-Aassar, O.M. Ibrahim, M.M. Fouda, N.G. El-Beheri, M.M. Agwa, Wound healing of nanofiber
- 1120 comprising Polygalacturonic/Hyaluronic acid embedded silver nanoparticles: In-vitro and in-vivo studies,
 1121 Carbohydrate polymers 238 (2020) 116175.
- 1122 [177] M. Gruppuso, F. Iorio, G. Turco, E. Marsich, D. Porrelli, Hyaluronic acid/lactose-modified chitosan
- electrospun wound dressings Crosslinking and stability criticalities, Carbohydrate Polymers 288 (2022)
- 1124 119375.
- 1125 [178] M. Goh, G. Tae, Mesenchymal stem cell-encapsulated cellulose nanofiber microbeads and 1126 enhanced biological activities by hyaluronic acid incorporation, Carbohydrate Polymers 280 (2022) 1127 119026.
- 1128 [179] E. Elibol, Y.F. Yılmaz, A. Ünal, M. Ozcan, N.Y. Kum, R.O. Kum, S. Kulaçoğlu, Effects of hyaluronic 1129 acid-collagen nanofibers on early wound healing in vocal cord trauma, European Archives of Oto-Rhino-1130 Larvngology 278(5) (2021) 1537-1544
- 1130 Laryngology 278(5) (2021) 1537-1544.
- 1131 [180] L. Liu, W. Jia, Y. Zhou, H. Zhou, M. Liu, M. Li, X. Zhang, G. Gu, Z. Chen, Hyaluronic acid 1132 oligosaccharide-collagen mineralized product and aligned nanofibers with enhanced vascularization 1133 properties in bone tissue engineering, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 206 (2022)
- 1134 277-287.
- 1135 [181] Y. Hussein, E.M. El-Fakharany, E.A. Kamoun, S.A. Loutfy, R. Amin, T.H. Taha, S.A. Salim, M. Amer,
- 1136 Electrospun PVA/hyaluronic acid/L-arginine nanofibers for wound healing applications: Nanofibers 1137 optimization and in vitro bioevaluation, International journal of biological macromolecules 164 (2020) 1138 667-676.
- 1139 [182] C. Pornpitchanarong, K. Singpanna, T. Rojanarata, P. Opanasopit, T. Ngawhirunpat, P.
 1140 Patrojanasophon, Catechol-bearing hyaluronic acid coated polyvinyl pyrrolidone/hydroxyl propyl-β1141 mala datatria (datatriananala manafikam fan anal analidizais trastanant Kan Fasimanaia).
- 1141 cyclodextrin/clotrimazole nanofibers for oral candidiasis treatment, Key Engineering Materials, Trans1142 Tech Publ, 2019, pp. 163-168.
- [183] P.R. Patel, A. Singam, A.K. Iyer, R.V.N. Gundloori, Bioinspired hyaluronic acid based nanofibers
 immobilized with 3, 4-difluorobenzylidene curcumin for treating bacterial infections, Journal of Drug
 Delivery Science and Technology 74 (2022) 103480.
- [184] R. Mohamed, N.G. El-Beheri, M.M. Agwa, H.M. Eltaher, M. Alseqely, W.S. Sadik, L. El-Khordagui,
 Antibiotic-free combinational hyaluronic acid blend nanofibers for wound healing enhancement,
 International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 167 (2021) 1552-1563.
- 1149 [185] M. Himmler, D.W. Schubert, L. Dähne, G. Egri, T.A. Fuchsluger, Electrospun PCL Scaffolds as Drug
- 1150 Carrier for Corneal Wound Dressing Using Layer-by-Layer Coating of Hyaluronic Acid and Heparin, 1151 International journal of molecular sciences 23(5) (2022) 2765.
- [186] A. Erickson, J. Sun, S.K.L. Levengood, M. Zhang, Hyaluronic acid-coated aligned nanofibers for the
 promotion of glioblastoma migration, ACS Applied Bio Materials 2(3) (2019) 1088-1097.
- [187] C. Xie, Z.J. Lee, S. Ye, C.J. Barrow, F.R. Dunshea, H.A. Suleria, A Review on Seaweeds and Seaweed Derived Polysaccharides: Nutrition, Chemistry, Bioactivities, and Applications, Food Reviews
 International (2023) 1-36.
- [188] R.A. Raus, W.M.F.W. Nawawi, R.R. Nasaruddin, Alginate and alginate composites for biomedical
 applications, Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences 16(3) (2021) 280-306.
- 1159 [189] M. Beaumont, R. Tran, G. Vera, D. Niedrist, A. Rousset, R. Pierre, V.P. Shastri, A. Forget, Hydrogel-
- 1160 forming algae polysaccharides: From seaweed to biomedical applications, Biomacromolecules 22(3)1161 (2021) 1027-1052.
- 1162 [190] R. Raguavaran, D. Mondal, D. Sharma, M. Jithin, N. Yadav, Biomedical applications of alginate
- 1163 nanoparticles, Polysaccharide Nanoparticles, Elsevier2022, pp. 311-328.

- 1164 [191] M.A. Taemeh, A. Shiravandi, M.A. Korayem, H. Daemi, Fabrication challenges and trends in 1165 biomedical applications of alginate electrospun nanofibers, Carbohydrate polymers 228 (2020) 115419.
- [192] A.C. Mendes, K. Stephansen, I.S. Chronakis, Electrospinning of food proteins and polysaccharides,
 Food Hydrocolloids 68 (2017) 53-68.
- 1168 [193] T.C. Mokhena, M.J. Mochane, A. Mtibe, M.J. John, E.R. Sadiku, J.S. Sefadi, Electrospun alginate 1169 nanofibers toward various applications: A review, Materials 13(4) (2020) 934.
- 1170 [194] H. Nie, A. He, J. Zheng, S. Xu, J. Li, C.C. Han, Effects of chain conformation and entanglement on 1171 the electrospinning of pure alginate, Biomacromolecules 9(5) (2008) 1362-1365.
- 1172 [195] J.-J. Chang, Y.-H. Lee, M.-H. Wu, M.-C. Yang, C.-T. Chien, Electrospun anti-adhesion barrier made of 1173 chitosan alginate for reducing peritoneal adhesions, Carbohydrate Polymers 88(4) (2012) 1304-1312.
- 1174 [196] S.S. Majidi, P. Slemming-Adamsen, M. Hanif, Z. Zhang, Z. Wang, M. Chen, Wet electrospun 1175 alginate/gelatin hydrogel nanofibers for 3D cell culture, International journal of biological 1176 macromolecules 118 (2018) 1648-1654.
- 1177 [197] N. Asadi, A. Mehdipour, M. Ghorbani, M. Mesgari-Abbasi, A. Akbarzadeh, S. Davaran, A novel
 1178 multifunctional bilayer scaffold based on chitosan nanofiber/alginate-gelatin methacrylate hydrogel for
 1179 full-thickness wound healing, International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 193 (2021) 734-747.
- 1180 [198] Y. Ma, P. Qi, J. Ju, Q. Wang, L. Hao, R. Wang, K. Sui, Y. Tan, Gelatin/alginate composite nanofiber
- 1181 membranes for effective and even adsorption of cationic dyes, Composites Part B: Engineering 162
- 1182 (2019) 671-677.
- 1183 [199] T. Ghosh, R. Priyadarshi, C.K. de Souza, B.L. Angioletti, J.-W. Rhim, Advances in pullulan utilization 1184 for sustainable applications in food packaging and preservation: A mini-review, Trends in Food Science & 1185 Technology (2022).
- 1186 [200] W.-W. Hu, C.-H. Lin, Z.-J. Hong, The enrichment of cancer stem cells using composite 1187 alginate/polycaprolactone nanofibers, Carbohydrate polymers 206 (2019) 70-79.
- 1188 [201] A. Dodero, M. Alloisio, M. Castellano, S. Vicini, Multilayer alginate-polycaprolactone electrospun
 1189 membranes as skin wound patches with drug delivery abilities, ACS applied materials & interfaces 12(28)
 1190 (2020) 31162-31171.
- 1191 [202] H.A. Al-Moalemi, S. Razak, S.P.M. Bohari, Electrospun sodium alginate/poly (ethylene oxide)
 1192 nanofibers for wound healing applications: Challenges and future directions, Cellul. Chem. Technol 56
 1193 (2022) 251-270.
- 1194 [203] T. Gao, G. Guan, X. Wang, T. Lou, Electrospun molecularly imprinted sodium alginate/polyethylene 1195 oxide nanofibrous membranes for selective adsorption of methylene blue, International Journal of 1196 Biological Macromolecules 207 (2022) 62-71.
- 1197 [204] H.A. AL-MOALEMI, S.I. ABD RAZAK, S.P.M. BOHARI, ELECTROSPUN SODIUM ALGINATE/POLY 1198 (ETHYLENE OXIDE) NANOFIBERS AS WOUND DRESSINGS: CHALLENGES AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS.
- [205] M. Akhtar, S. Ahmed, R. Hussain, A. Wadood, I. Roy, M.A.U. Rehman, A.R. Boccaccini, Centrifugal
 Spinning of Polyvinyl Alcohol/Sodium Alginate-Di-Aldehyde-Gelatin Based Antibacterial Nanofibers
 Intended for Skin Tissue Engineering, Materials Letters (2022) 132530.
- [206] J. Zhang, J. Zhang, Y. Guan, X. Huang, M. Arslan, J. Shi, Z. Li, Y. Gong, M. Holmes, X. Zou, Highsensitivity bilayer nanofiber film based on polyvinyl alcohol/sodium alginate/polyvinylidene fluoride for
 pork spoilage visual monitoring and preservation, Food Chemistry (2022) 133439.
- [207] G. Correia, J. Falcão, A.C. Neto, Y. Silva, L. Mendonça, A. Barros, R. Santos-Oliveira, W. de Azevedo,
 S.A. Junior, B. Santos, In situ preparation of nanohydroxyapatite/alginate composites as additives to PVA
 electrospun fibers as new bone graft materials, Materials Chemistry and Physics 282 (2022) 125879.
- 1208 [208] M. Domżał-Kędzia, M. Ostrowska, A. Lewińska, M. Łukaszewicz, Recent Developments and
- 1209 Applications of Microbial Levan, A Versatile Polysaccharide-Based Biopolymer, Molecules 28(14) (2023)
- 1209 Applications of Microbial Levan, A Versatile Polysaccharide-Based Biopolymer, Molecules 28(14) (2023) 1210 5407.

- 1211 [209] O. Kırtel, J. Combie, Levan, Polysaccharides of Microbial Origin: Biomedical Applications, 1212 Springer2022, pp. 23-42.
- 1213 [210] S. Ye, B.R. Shah, J. Li, H. Liang, F. Zhan, F. Geng, B. Li, A critical review on interplay between dietary 1214 fibers and gut microbiota, Trends in Food Science & Technology (2022).
- 1215 [211] S.A. Arvidson, B.T. Rinehart, F. Gadala-Maria, Concentration regimes of solutions of levan 1216 polysaccharide from Bacillus sp, Carbohydrate Polymers 65(2) (2006) 144-149.
- 1217 [212] S. Manandhar, S. Vidhate, N. D'Souza, Water soluble levan polysaccharide biopolymer electrospun 1218 fibers, Carbohydrate Polymers 78(4) (2009) 794-798.
- 1219 [213] Z. Moradi, N. Kalanpour, Kefiran, a branched polysaccharide: Preparation, properties and 1220 applications: A review, Carbohydrate Polymers 223 (2019) 115100.
- 1221 [214] M. Bagherian Far, H. Ziyadi, Fabrication of polyvinyl alcohol/kefiran nanofibers membrane using 1222 electrospinning, Journal of Pharmaceutical & Health Sciences 4(3) (2016) 211-2018.
- 1223 [215] A. Jenab, R. Roghanian, G. Emtiazi, K. Ghaedi, Manufacturing and structural analysis of 1224 antimicrobial kefiran/polyethylene oxide nanofibers for food packaging, Iranian Polymer Journal 26(1) 1225 (2017) 31-39.
- 1226 [216] M.D. Pendón, A.A. Bengoa, C. Iraporda, M. Medrano, G.L. Garrote, A.G. Abraham, Water kefir:
- Factors affecting grain growth and health-promoting properties of the fermented beverage, Journal ofApplied Microbiology 133(1) (2022) 162-180.
- [217] S. Shokraei, E. Mirzaei, N. Shokraei, M.A. Derakhshan, H. Ghanbari, R. Faridi-Majidi, Fabrication
 and characterization of chitosan/kefiran electrospun nanofibers for tissue engineering applications,
 Journal of Applied Polymer Science 138(24) (2021) 50547.
- 1232 [218] H. Ziyadi, M. Baghali, M. Bagherianfar, F. Mehrali, R. Faridi-Majidi, An investigation of factors
- 1233 affecting the electrospinning of poly (vinyl alcohol)/kefiran composite nanofibers, Advanced Composites 1234 and Hybrid Materials 4(3) (2021) 768-779.
- [219] J.M. Rhodes, M. Simons, The extracellular matrix and blood vessel formation: not just a scaffold,Journal of cellular and molecular medicine 11(2) (2007) 176-205.
- 1237 [220] M.D. Shoulders, R.T. Raines, Collagen structure and stability, Annual review of biochemistry 781238 (2009) 929.
- [221] J. Wang, M. Windbergs, Functional electrospun fibers for the treatment of human skin wounds,European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics 119 (2017) 283-299.
- [222] Z. Bazrafshan, G.K. Stylios, A novel approach to enhance the spinnability of collagen fibers by graft
 polymerization, Materials Science and Engineering: C 94 (2019) 108-116.
- 1243 [223] S. Zhang, G. Zhao, W. Ma, Y. Song, C. Huang, C. Xie, K. Chen, X. Li, The root-like chitosan nanofiber
- porous scaffold cross-linked by genipin with type I collagen and its osteoblast compatibility,
 Carbohydrate Polymers 285 (2022) 119255.
- 1246 [224] C. Rani, A. Safira, M. Suryadiningrat, F. Fikri, D. Wardhana, M. Purnama, Characterization of Tilapia 1247 collagen-loaded chitosan nanofibers synthesized by electrospinning method for wound dressing, IOP
- 1248 Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, IOP Publishing, 2022, p. 012034.
- 1249 [225] Y. Niu, M. Galluzzi, Hyaluronic acid/collagen nanofiber tubular scaffolds support endothelial cell 1250 proliferation, phenotypic shape and endothelialization, Nanomaterials 11(9) (2021) 2334.
- 1251 [226] M.A. Derakhshan, N. Nazeri, K. Khoshnevisan, R. Heshmat, K. Omidfar, Three-layered PCL-collagen
- nanofibers containing melilotus officinalis extract for diabetic ulcer healing in a rat model, Journal of
 Diabetes & Metabolic Disorders (2022) 1-9.
- 1254 [227] M.A. Kulkarni, A.R. Gangal, S.S. Khare, H.G. Mundada, R.R. Pujari, Electrospun Collagen Based 1255 Nanofibrous Mats for Wound Healing: An Integrative Review, Biosciences Biotechnology Research Asia
- 1256 19(2) (2022) 515-528.
- 1257 [228] F. Sheikhi, M. Khorram, S.-S. Hashemi, A. Mohammadi, H. Peyrovedin, Preparation, 1258 Characterization, and Surface Modification of Polycaprolactone-Based Nanofibrous Scaffold by Grafting

- with Collagen for Skin Tissue Engineering, Regenerative Engineering and Translational Medicine (2022)1-18.
- 1261 [229] Y. Xie, F. Zhang, O. Akkus, M.W. King, A collagen/PLA hybrid scaffold supports tendon-derived cell
- growth for tendon repair and regeneration, Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: AppliedBiomaterials (2022).
- 1264 [230] O.C. Gunes, A. Kara, G. Baysan, R. Bugra Husemoglu, P. Akokay, A. Ziylan Albayrak, B.U. Ergur, H.
- 1265 Havitcioglu, Fabrication of 3D Printed poly (lactic acid) strut and wet-electrospun cellulose nano fiber
- reinforced chitosan-collagen hydrogel composite scaffolds for meniscus tissue engineering, Journal of
 Biomaterials Applications (2022) 08853282221109339.
- [231] M. Rahim Labbafzadeh, M.H. Vakili, Application of magnetic electrospun polyvinyl alcohol/collagen
 nanofibres for drug delivery systems, Molecular Simulation 48(1) (2022) 1-7.
- 1270 [232] S.A. Karthick, T. Ragavi, K. Naresh, P.R. Sreekanth, A study on collagen-PVA and chitosan-PVA 1271 nanofibrous matrix for wound dressing application, Materials Today: Proceedings 56 (2022) 1347-1350.
- 1272 [233] L. Bozec, M. Odlyha, Thermal denaturation studies of collagen by microthermal analysis and 1273 atomic force microscopy, Biophys J 101(1) (2011) 228-36.
- 1274 [234] F. Banafati Zadeh, A. Zamanian, Glutaraldehyde: Introducing optimum condition for cross-linking
- the chitosan/gelatin scaffolds for bone tissue en-gineering, International Journal of Engineering 35(10)(2022).
- 1277 [235] J.A. Serna, L. Rueda-Gensini, D.N. Céspedes-Valenzuela, J. Cifuentes, J.C. Cruz, C. Muñoz-Camargo, 1278 Recent Advances on Stimuli-Responsive Hydrogels Based on Tissue-Derived ECMs and Their
- 1279 Components: Towards Improving Functionality for Tissue Engineering and Controlled Drug Delivery,
 1280 Polymers 13(19) (2021) 3263.
 1281 Polymers 13(19) (2021) 4263.
- [236] S. Wilk, A. Benko, Advances in fabricating the electrospun biopolymer-based biomaterials, Journalof Functional Biomaterials 12(2) (2021) 26.
- [237] Q. Zhang, Q. Tang, Y. Yang, J. Yi, W. Wei, Y. Hong, X. Zhang, F. Zhou, X. Yao, H. Ouyang, Wound
 dressing gel with resisted bacterial penetration and enhanced re-epithelization for corneal epithelialstromal regeneration, Applied Materials Today 24 (2021) 101119.
- 1286 [238] A. Bogdanova, E. Pavlova, A. Polyanskaya, M. Volkova, E. Biryukova, G. Filkov, A. Trofimenko, M.
 1287 Durymanov, D. Klinov, D. Bagrov, Acceleration of Electrospun PLA Degradation by Addition of Gelatin,
- 1288 International Journal of Molecular Sciences 24(4) (2023) 3535.
- 1289 [239] A. Weihermann, M. Lorencini, C. Brohem, C. De Carvalho, Elastin structure and its involvement in 1290 skin photoageing, International journal of cosmetic science 39(3) (2017) 241-247.
- [240] A. Heinz, Elastases and elastokines: elastin degradation and its significance in health and disease,
 Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology 55(3) (2020) 252-273.
- [241] J.C. Rodriguez-Cabello, I. Gonzalez De Torre, M. González-Pérez, F. González-Pérez, I. Montequi,
 Fibrous scaffolds from elastin-based materials, Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology 9 (2021)
 652384.
- 1296 [242] K.E. Swindle-Reilly, C.S. Paranjape, C.A. Miller, Electrospun poly(caprolactone)-elastin scaffolds for 1297 peripheral nerve regeneration, Progress in Biomaterials 3(1) (2014) 20.
- 1298 [243] Y.E. Aguirre-Chagala, V. Altuzar, E. León-Sarabia, J.C. Tinoco-Magaña, J.M. Yañez-Limón, C.
 1299 Mendoza-Barrera, Physicochemical properties of polycaprolactone/collagen/elastin nanofibers
 1300 fabricated by electrospinning, Materials science and engineering: C 76 (2017) 897-907.
- 1301 [244] J.J. Vázquez, E.S.M. Martínez, Collagen and elastin scaffold by electrospinning for skin tissue 1302 engineering applications, Journal of Materials Research 34(16) (2019) 2819-2827.
- 1303 [245] Y. Niu, M. Galluzzi, F. Deng, Z. Zhao, M. Fu, L. Su, W. Sun, W. Jia, H. Xia, A biomimetic hyaluronic
- 1304 acid-silk fibroin nanofiber scaffold promoting regeneration of transected urothelium, Bioengineering &
- 1305 translational medicine 7(2) (2022) e10268.

[246] F.E. Pandini, F.M.M. Kubo, A.M.d.G. Plepis, V.d.C.A. Martins, M.R. Da Cunha, V.R. Silva, V.B. Hirota,
E. Lopes, M.A. Menezes, A.A. Pelegrine, In Vivo Study of Nasal Bone Reconstruction with Collagen,
Elastin and Chitosan Membranes in Abstainer and Alcoholic Rats, Polymers 14(1) (2022) 188.

1309 [247] A. Bryan, Evaluation of Magnesium and Elastin Incorporation into Electrospun Chitosan 1310 Membranes for Skin Wounds, The University of Memphis, 2021.

1311 [248] M. Castillo-Ortega, I. López-Peña, D. Rodríguez-Félix, D. Castillo-Castro, J. Encinas-Encinas, H.

1312 Santacruz-Ortega, J. Cauich-Rodríguez, J. Quiroz-Castillo, L. Chan-Chan, I. Lagarda-Diaz, Clindamycin-

loaded nanofibers of polylactic acid, elastin and gelatin for use in tissue engineering, Polymer Bulletin(2021) 1-19.

1315 [249] C. Chong, Y. Wang, A. Fathi, R. Parungao, P.K. Maitz, Z. Li, Skin wound repair: Results of a pre-1316 clinical study to evaluate electropsun collagen–elastin–PCL scaffolds as dermal substitutes, Burns 45(7) 1317 (2019) 1639-1648.

1318 [250] T. Asakura, M.P. Williamson, A review on the structure of Bombyx mori silk fibroin fiber studied

using solid-state NMR: An antipolar lamella with an 8-residue repeat, International Journal of Biological
 Macromolecules (2023) 125537.

1321 [251] A. Yıldız, A.A. Kara, F. Acartürk, Peptide-protein based nanofibers in pharmaceutical and 1322 biomedical applications, International journal of biological macromolecules 148 (2020) 1084-1097.

1323 [252] K.G. DeFrates, R. Moore, J. Borgesi, G. Lin, T. Mulderig, V. Beachley, X. Hu, Protein-based fiber 1324 materials in medicine: a review, Nanomaterials 8(7) (2018) 457.

1325 [253] M.Z.A. Zulkifli, D. Nordin, N. Shaari, S.K. Kamarudin, Overview of Electrospinning for Tissue 1326 Engineering Applications, Polymers 15(11) (2023) 2418.

1327 [254] R.S. Khan, A.H. Rather, T.U. Wani, S. ullah Rather, A. Abdal-hay, F.A. Sheikh, A comparative review

on silk fibroin nanofibers encasing the silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agents for wound healing
applications, Materials Today Communications (2022) 103914.
[255] S. Zargar, A. Asefnejad, M. Azami, M. Farokhi, Fabrication and Characterization of Collagen

1330 [255] S. Zargar, A. Asemejad, M. Azami, M. Farokni, Fabrication and Characterization of Collagen 1331 Nanofiber/Fibroin Silk Scaffolds for Corneal Tissue Engineering, Journal of Advanced Materials and 1332 Technologies (2022).

1333 [256] J. Wu, S. Wang, Z. Zheng, J. Li, Fabrication of Biologically Inspired Electrospun Collagen/Silk 1334 fibroin/bioactive glass composited nanofibrous scaffold to accelerate the treatment efficiency of bone 1335 repair, Regenerative Therapy 21 (2022) 122-138.

1336 [257] Q. Wang, S. Zhou, L. Wang, R. You, S. Yan, Q. Zhang, M. Li, Bioactive silk fibroin scaffold with 1337 nanoarchitecture for wound healing, Composites Part B: Engineering 224 (2021) 109165.

1338 [258] P.L. Heseltine, C. Bayram, M. Gultekinoglu, S. Homer-Vanniasinkam, K. Ulubayram, M. Edirisinghe,

1339 Facile One-Pot Method for All Aqueous Green Formation of Biocompatible Silk Fibroin-Poly (Ethylene

Oxide) Fibers for Use in Tissue Engineering, ACS Biomaterials Science & Engineering 8(3) (2022) 1290-1300.

[259] M.A.A. Khalek, S.A.A. Gaber, R.A. El-Domany, M.A. El-Kemary, Photoactive electrospun cellulose
acetate/polyethylene oxide/methylene blue and trilayered cellulose acetate/polyethylene oxide/silk
fibroin/ciprofloxacin nanofibers for chronic wound healing, International Journal of Biological
Macromolecules 193 (2021) 1752-1766.

[260] N. Ojah, D. Saikia, D. Gogoi, P. Baishya, G.A. Ahmed, A. Ramteke, A.J. Choudhury, Surface
modification of core-shell silk/PVA nanofibers by oxygen dielectric barrier discharge plasma: Studies of
physico-chemical properties and drug release behavior, Applied Surface Science 475 (2019) 219-229.

1349 [261] H.R. Bakhsheshi-Rad, A.F. Ismail, M. Aziz, M. Akbari, Z. Hadisi, M. Omidi, X. Chen, Development of

1350 the PVA/CS nanofibers containing silk protein sericin as a wound dressing: In vitro and in vivo 1351 assessment, International journal of biological macromolecules 149 (2020) 513-521.

- [262] M.M. Sayed, H.M. Mousa, M. El-Aassar, N.M. El-Deeb, N.M. Ghazaly, M.M. Dewidar, A. Abdal-hay,
 Enhancing mechanical and biodegradation properties of polyvinyl alcohol/silk fibroin nanofibers
 composite patches for Cardiac Tissue Engineering, Materials Letters 255 (2019) 126510.
- [263] M.M. Kalani, J. Nourmohammadi, B. Negahdari, A. Rahimi, S.A. Sell, Electrospun core-sheath poly
 (vinyl alcohol)/silk fibroin nanofibers with Rosuvastatin release functionality for enhancing osteogenesis
 of human adipose-derived stem cells, Materials Science and Engineering: C 99 (2019) 129-139.
- 1358 [264] J. Lee, S. Moon, J. Lahann, K.J. Lee, Recent Progress in Preparing Nonwoven Nanofibers via 1359 Needleless Electrospinning, Macromolecular Materials and Engineering (2023) 2300057.
- [265] M.T. Brennan, L.S. Madsen, D.P. Saunders, J.J. Napenas, C. McCreary, R. Ni Riordain, A.M.L.
 Pedersen, S. Fedele, R.J. Cook, R. Abdelsayed, Efficacy and safety of a novel mucoadhesive clobetasol
 patch for treatment of erosive oral lichen planus: A phase 2 randomized clinical trial, Journal of Oral
 Pathology & Medicine 51(1) (2022) 86-97.
- 1364 [266] C. Matschegewski, S. Kohse, J. Markhoff, M. Teske, K. Wulf, N. Grabow, K.-P. Schmitz, S. Illner,
 1365 Accelerated Endothelialization of Nanofibrous Scaffolds for Biomimetic Cardiovascular Implants,
 1366 Materials 15(6) (2022) 2014.
- 1367 [267] N. Feistel, HETEROGENEOUSLY DESIGNED SEALING SYSTEMS BASED ON THE REDURA® PRINCIPLE.
- 1368 [268] G. Dutton, To Mend Difficult Breaks, Try Porous Implants Treated with "Bone Paint" A bone 1369 regeneration technology from Theradaptive can fill large gaps, potentially saving limbs and
- accomplishing other feats of preservation, Genetic Engineering & Biotechnology News 41(5) (2021) 2021.
- [269] G. CAY, G. FINCO, J.A. GARCIA, E. SALAZAR, D. VIGANO, M. MACAGNO, D.G. ARMSTRONG, B.
 NAJAFI, 522-P: HealSmart—Evaluating Key Factors Affecting Diabetic Wound Healing for Personalized
 Care, Diabetes 72(Supplement_1) (2023).
- 1375 [270] U. Barbero, E. Cerrato, G.G. Secco, D. Tedeschi, D. Belliggiano, M. Pavani, C. Moncalvo, F.
 1376 Tomassini, M. De Benedictis, B. Doronzo, PK Papyrus coronary stent system: the ultrathin struts
 1377 polyurethane-covered stent, Future cardiology 16(5) (2020) 405-411.
- 1378 [271] G. Rivero, M.D.P.P. da Cunha, P.C. Caracciolo, G.A. Abraham, Nanofibrous scaffolds for skin tissue
- engineering and wound healing applications, Tissue engineering using ceramics and polymers,Elsevier2022, pp. 645-681.
- 1381